
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Housing Services Cabinet 
Committee

Members of the Housing Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held Virtually on Thursday, 4 February 2021 at 7.30 pm 
when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on how 
Members can attend the meeting will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 8)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. Corporate Performance Report: Q3 2020-21 (Pages 9 - 18)

5. Project Update - Housing IT System PRESENTATION

6. Revised Housing Allocation Scheme (Pages 19 - 46)

7. Housing Ombudsman Review (Pages 47 - 58)

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


8. Draft Estate Management Policy (Pages 59 - 94)

9. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter or urgency 

10.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part A of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B

Items likely to be considered in Private

None.

Members

Cllr Jenny Wallace (Chair)
Cllr Christina Rolles (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Baljit Hayre
Leslie Hills
Leslie Hoskins
Diane Morton
Lyn Milner
Leslie Pearton
Peter Scollard
Frank Wardle

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Housing Services Cabinet Committee

Monday, 16 November 2020 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Jenny Wallace (Chair)
Cllr Christina Rolles (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Baljit Hayre
Leslie Hills
Leslie Hoskins
Diane Marsh
Lyn Milner
Leslie Pearton
Peter Scollard
Frank Wardle

Daniel Killian Assistant Director (Housing)
Jody Bulman Service Manager (Housing Landlord Services)
Lee Georgiou Service Manager (Housing Options)
Nicole Arthur
Carlie Simmonds

Service Delivery Manager (Housing Repairs)
Committee Services Manager (Minutes)

David Herrington Digital Manager (Technical Support)

17. Introduction from the Chair 

The Chair welcomed Members and officers to the meeting together with the Gravesham 
residents watching via the Council‘s YouTube channel. The Chair wished everyone well in 
these times and reiterated the words of the Leader of the Council: ‘We are here to provide 
support and advice for you. We will come through these most difficult of times‘. 

The Chair also welcomed Jody Bulman, Service Manager (Housing Landlord Services) who 
joined the Council just over four weeks ago. 

Before proceeding to the agenda, the Chair highlighted what a very positive agenda it was. 
Despite COVID-19, the Corporate Performance Update showed that Housing performance 
was holding up well. The Allocations Policy had now benefitted from Lee Georgiou, Service 
Manager (Housing Options) expertise in particular residents needing to have been living in 
Gravesham for three years.  This was to protect residents from other boroughs coming into 
Gravesham and renting Gravesham properties for their residents. There would also an 
interesting and progressive presentation about the Online Repairs Diagnostics Tool with the 
meeting concluding with a DSO (Direct Services Operations) good news story.

18. Apologies 

No apologies for absence were received.

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 16.11.2020

2

19. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday, 22 September 2020 were signed by the Chair.

20. Declarations 

No declarations of interest were made.

21. Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2020-21 

The Committee was presented with an update against the Performance Management 
Framework, as introduced within the Council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter Two 2020-21 
(July to September 2020).

The Assistant Director (Housing) drew Member‘s attention to appendix two which provided a 
statistical overview and reminded the Committee that outturns in the appendix were 
presented separately in both the table and graph provided and that it was important to note 
that they were not one of the same product and should not be used as such, they were 
simply two methods of presenting the same content. 

The officers present went through each policy commitment in turn and provided an update 
on what activity had and/or would be delivered in order to successfully realise the policy 
commitments.

The Committee highlighted the following:-

 in relation to PI 19 - % of Disabled Facility Grant applications processed on time, the 
Committee asked how many applications were received per quarter and how many of 
those were successful. The Assistant Director (Housing) advised that he would 
circulate this information to the Committee outside of the meeting;

 the Committee welcomed sites being developed by the Council and suggested that 
hoarding be erected;

 the Committee commended the Sheltered Housing Team for working with local 
charities during the pandemic in order to support vulnerable tenants;

 the Committee requested further information on hospital discharge/prevention work. 
The Assistant Director (Housing) advised that he would circulate further information 
to the Committee outside of the meeting; and

 the Committee asked what support was currently being provided to homeless 
persons who had tested positive for COVID-19. The Committee was advised that, 
although there was no statutory responsibility to do so, the Council was currently 
providing ‘contained‘ temporary accommodation to homeless persons who had 
tested positive for COVID-19 in order to reduce the spread of the infection. 

The Committee noted the information contained within the report.

22. Update on Allocations Policy Consultation 

Further to minute 25 (12.02.2020), the Committee received a summary of the responses 
received during the 20 week public consultation period together with the draft framework for 
the revised Housing Allocations Scheme. The revised scheme will provide a greater degree 
of clarity than the current scheme whilst also ensuring that those with the greatest housing 

Page 4



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 16.11.2020

3

need are assisted in order of defined priorities. The proposed changes will ensure that the 
Council’s Housing Allocations Scheme meets the requirements of current legislation, 
guidance and good practice to provide a clear and comprehensive scheme which describes 
how the Council will assess and prioritise the demand from applicants for limited social 
housing within the Borough.

The Committee received a short presentation from the Service Manager (Housing Options) 
summarising the process to date together with the next steps as detailed below:-

 to undertaken further work to refine the document with colleagues, senior managers 
and the department;

 to undertake a Equality Impact Assessment;
 to present the final version of the scheme to the Housing Services Cabinet 

Committee on 4 February 2021; and
 to present the final version of the scheme to the Cabinet on 22 February 2021 with a 

recommendation to adopt the revised scheme to enable it to be implemented in April 
2021.

The Committee considered the revised scheme and highlighted the following:-

 there was a typographical error on agenda page 29 (third paragraph), it should state 
‘….their status as a jobseeker or an initial three months’ right of residence…. ‘;

 there was a typographical error on agenda page 35 (last paragraph of section 3.5), it 
should state ‘….they will not be included on your Housing Register application; and 
they will not be…. ‘;

 concern was expressed regarding the change to refusal sanctions/applicants being 
suspended from the housing register for 12 months if they refuse a suitable offer. 
Previously, there had been some flexibility on the number of refusals as it was 
acknowledged that some properties may not be suitable. These sanctions would 
usually result in Member involvement so there needed to be transparency. The 
Committee was advised that discretion would be taken however there needed to be a 
fine balance to ensure that there was no impact on the housing register, length of 
turnaround time, rent loss etc. The use of the Locata system and setting applicants 
preferences would also help to mitigate against any suitable offers being refused;

 would the Housing Allocation Panel be made up of internal and/or external 
representatives and would there be any expenditure relating to the setting 
up/membership of this Panel. The Committee was advised that the Panel would be 
made up of internal officers from a variety of relevant teams within the Council and 
that there would be no expenditure relating to the setting up/membership of this 
Panel. The Panel will add a level of transparency and ensure that there is a 
consistent approach;

 concern was expressed regarding the lack of responses to the consultation. The 
Committee was advised that the consultation period was extended and the Council 
actively reached out to a wide range of partners, landlords, statutory services and 
local community groups;

 concern was expressed regarding the qualifying length of residence or employment 
in the Borough changing from 2 years to 3 years. There may be an individual/family 
that has a strong need but their local connection is less than 3 years compared to an 
individual/family that a lesser need however their local connection is more than 3 
years. The Committee was advised that a certain level of discretion had been built in 

Page 5



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 16.11.2020

4

to the policy so that cases can be viewed taking individual personal circumstances in 
to account;

 no pressure to be put on individuals/families to downsize;
 reference be made to gypsy and travellers; and
 concern was expressed regarding specific reference being made to ‘Afghan citizen‘ 

(agenda page 28, section 4.2). The Committee was advised this reference was set 
out in current legislation therefore the Council must comply with it. 

A Member of the Committee expressed concern regarding some of the responses provided 
by officers. The Chair advised that she would deal with the Member‘s concerns outside the 
meeting.

The Committee commended the work that had been undertaken to date in producing a clear 
and complex document.

Resolved that the outcome of the consultation be noted and the next steps to 
progress the Housing Allocations Scheme as set out in Section 4 of the report be 
agreed.  

 

23. Active Housing - Online Repairs Diagnostics Tool 

The Service Delivery Manager advised that DSO Building Management had gained approval 
to purchase the Active Housing‘s Online Repairs Diagnostics Tool. It will offer tenants a self-
service experience to schedule repair appointments as well as allowing them to 
cancel/reschedule appointments, view their appointment history, receive a text message 
confirming their appointment date/time, provide feedback on visits and offers self-repair 
advice/videos.

The Service Delivery Manager provided Members with a live demonstration of the Tool and 
how the information inputted by the tenant would be transferred to the office-based system 
(Oneserve).

The Tool had been designed to identify when a repair would be classed an urgent and will 
instruct the tenant to contact the Repairs Team directly.

The Committee was advised that the introduction of the Tool was to offer more choice to 
tenants. Therefore, tenants would be able to continue to contact the Repairs Team directly 
by telephone and/or email if that was their preferred choice of communication. 

The Committee welcomed the Tool and commended the work that had been undertaken to 
date.

24. Update on Additional Resources - DSO Building Management 

The Committee was informed that, in October 2018, the Cabinet agreed to Phase 1 of the 
expansion to the DSO Building Management Team which began in November 2018 and saw 
a well-publicised recruitment campaign. There was a really good response with over 200 
people applying for the vacant positions. However, whilst a high calibre of applicants was 
received it was essential that people were recruited with the exact skill set that were needed 
in order to generate the savings and efficiencies that had been identified. The very specific 

Page 6



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 16.11.2020

5

requirements meant that recruitment took longer than first anticipated and the newly-created 
roles in Phase 1 were not fully occupied until September 2019.

At the Cabinet meeting on 9 November 2020, the Cabinet recognised that an in-house 
workforce would be more competitive than using contractors to carry out certain elements of 
work and will be recommending to Full Council the proposals to expand the in-house 
workforce further as set out in the report. Phase 2 of the expansion will create further 
opportunities to reduce the reliance on term contractors within the DSO Building 
Management Team by expanding the in-house workforce at a more competitive rate than 
current contractors to further assist with efficiency savings, improving the quality of work and 
timescales in which work would be completed.

In addition to this, the proposals outlined within the report would also enable a more 
commercial approach to be adopted within the repairs teams to ensure the service is in the 
best possible position for trading to the public through Rosherville Limited.

The Assistant Director (Housing) advised that the recruitment of the additional craft workers 
would be accommodated within existing budgets and will allow the service to continue to 
drive through efficiencies and savings by bringing more work back in-house. The changes as 
proposed within the report were likely to generate a saving of £672,500 within Capital HRA 
budgets and £256,480 within HRA Revenue budgets whilst also increasing the quality of 
work and capacity to deliver more for the tenants. 

The Committee congratulated the Assistant Director (Housing) and DSO Building 
Management Team for the entrepreneurial approach and for making the expansion a 
success. 

Close of Meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.58 pm.

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Services Committee

Date: 4 February 2021

Reporting officer: Daniel Killian - Assistant Director (Housing)

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Three 2020-21 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Housing Services Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter Three 2020-21 (October to December 2020).

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its new Corporate Plan for 2019-23. 
The plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

Page 9 Agenda Item 4



2

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Members of the Housing Services 
Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance against the 
Corporate Plan for Quarter Three 2020-21, covering the period October to 
December 2020. 

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
available reporting cycle.  

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 10



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 11

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 12



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

H O U S I N G  S E R V I C E S
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  3  :  2  0  2  0  -  2  1

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 13



P I  15 Gross number of affordable homes delivered

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

64

Despite the challenges posed by the pandemic, work continued on the Council’s new build schemes 

with progress being made on all three sites at Whitehill Road, St Patrick’s Gardens and Valley Drive.

The Council was also successful in securing planning permission for a further six new homes on 

redundant land at Armoury Drive and has also recently received approval to enter into contract for the 

delivery of 6 bungalows at Constable Road. Together, these schemes will provide 115 new Council 

homes for rent for households from the housing register. 

During Q3 our Registered Provider partners delivered 51 new homes being a mix of Shared 

Ownership and Affordable Rent. The new homes were delivered across 3 schemes currently under 

construction across the borough at Waterman’s Park, Cable Wharf and Springhead Park. The new 

homes have been delivered by Town and Country Housing, Orbit, Moat and Sage. 

Shared Ownership: 

3 x 1 bed apartment

16 x 2 bed apartment

4 x 2 bed house

15 x 3 bed house

4 x 4 bed house

Affordable Rent:

6 x 2 bed house 

3 x 3 bed house 

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Deliver an ambitious and diverse programme of building: increase the supply of high quality

market and affordable housing.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

O U T T U R N

Annual indicator Annual indicator

40

60

80

100

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 14



P I  16 Total number of empty private sector homes brought back into occupation

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

6 1 2 1 6 11 3

P I  17 Total number of private sector homes brought up to standard 

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

5 2 2 12 2 2 1

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

2. Enforce a high quality of private housing: work with landlords to tackle property standards, 

empty homes and homes in multiple occupation.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

Fundamental to the Housing and Private Sector Renewal Strategy is the Council’s Empty Property 

approach to reduce the number of long-term empty homes. 

This approach has been hugely successful with more than 300 properties returned to use in the last 10 

years with Gravesham recording the lowest total number of empty homes across Kent in the same 

period. During this period officers have engaged with hundreds of owners offering advice and financial 

support through the Kent No Use Empty loan initiative to assist owners in returning their property to 

use. Officers have also been successful in prosecuting owners who have been unwilling to engage 

and allowed their property to fall into disrepair. 

The latest Government data shows a national rise in the number of long-term empty homes for the 

fourth consecutive year. Gravesham is not immune, but this increase is the first recorded since 2017 

and in the last 12 months, officers have continued to perform with 20 properties returned to use in the 

first three quarters of 2020/2021. This success has been delivered despite challenging conditions and 

changes to individuals personal circumstances, which has led to delays in processing and officers 

attending site. 

The Council is however committed to tackling the blight of empty homes and officers will continue to 

engage and take all necessary measures to reduce the number of long-term empty homes and 

increase housing supply.

The property brought up to standard during this period involved a 2 bed flat occupied by a single 

parent and child. The complaints involved no gas safety record, the boiler breaking down, issues with 

the conduct of the gas engineer, no smoke alarms and some other minor issues of disrepair. After 

working with the landlord and tenant, the issues were resolved and confirmed as complete by the 

tenant. The tenant was also advised to contact HSE and gas safe regarding the gas engineers 

conduct as we are not the enforcing authority for such matters. 

The Private Sector Housing team have an interim officer joining the team on 8th February 2021, this 

will provide an additional resource to drive standards up further.

#1 PEOPLE 

0

4

8

12

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

0

5

10

15

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

P
age 15



P I  18 Average time taken to re-let council housing (days)

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

29 23 21 22 53 30 22

O U T T U R N

#1 PEOPLE 

Q3 saw a significant improvement in the time taken to re-let council housing, we are now back at a 

similar level prior to Covid-19.  The Allocation Team will continue to work closely with repairs to drive 

down the average time to re-let properties further. 

The implementation of the new housing system continues to progress well. All of the Housing Services 

Team have at least had an overview of the new system. Those staff who are the ‘trainers’ have been 

carrying out rigorous testing of the new system, writing ‘how to guides’ and prepared a full training 

programme ready to roll out to the rest of the team in January 2021, working above and beyond their 

duties to ensure the new system is a success. The team have overcome the difficulties of having to 

train virtually due to covid, and as a result the programme delivery time remains on target for go live.

The Housing Income Team continue to focus on supporting tenants to maintain rent payments during 

such challenging times for our tenants. It was hoped that the country would be back to some sense of 

normality by this time but there has been a worsening of the situation in the South East impacting on 

employment and the livelihoods of our tenants. Rent arrears are reducing after the increase due to the 

impact of Covid-19, with Gravesham’s rent arrears significantly lower than our counterparts in the 

South East, who are mainly operating with arrears circa 4%. Currently, the arrears for Gravesham 

tenants is 3.02%. The Income Team have worked hard to build an excellent working relationship with 

colleagues in Universal Credit and this hard work is now coming to fruition and partly explains why 

Gravesham’s arrears are one of the lowest in the South East.  A large number of compliments have 

been received for the Officers for the way they have dealt with tenants in need, complimenting them on 

their empathy and patience. 

The Sheltered Housing Team continue to provide an excellent service to our older tenants, ensuring 

that communal areas remain covid secure and our most vulnerable residents receive regular welfare 

checks. The team have also been working with Kent Fire and Rescue Service to ensure that our 

sheltered schemes remain safe with regards to fire risks. 

The Housing Officers continue to address many of the complex cases that arise with our tenants, 

particularly during covid, addressing ASB issues and an increase of noise nuisance reports due to 

people being at home more. The team have received many compliments for the manner in which they 

have resolved these issues. Over the last few months, there has also been a greater focus on case 

management which has started to reduce the time in which cases are dealt with. Generally, there has 

been some fantastic examples of team work over the last quarter, not only on the roll out the new 

housing management system, but between Officers from different teams working together to resolve 

complex tenancy issues, resulting in some great outcomes for our tenants. 

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

3. Provide a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing service: high quality tenant 

management experienced through a service making full use of its assets. 

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

0

20

40

60

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

P
age 16



P I  19 % of Disabled Facility Grant applications processed on time

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

P I   20 Total number of households in temporary accommodation

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

103 80 74 74 96 99 102

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

The Council continues to offer the Disabled Facility Grant programme to homes eligible for assistance 

that comply with the wider remit of the Better Care Fund.         

With works being delayed due to Covid-19, there has been considerable progress made in Quarter 3 

including new referrals and the completion of the adaptations which had been approved prior to 

lockdown.

Safe distance working continues to apply to any works carried out to ensure the welfare of the target 

client base.  KCC Adult Social Care have now progressed the backlog of initial referral visits and 

continue to carry out assessments on a virtual platform.

There is a strong emphasis on processing single adaption grants via the small grants application to 

enable works to be processed in a shorter timeframe.  This will help reduce the length of time 

residents will wait if they make a grant application which incorporates a number of adaptions into one 

request.

The number of households in temporary accommodation remains static. We have extended a large 

number of the SWEP and Covid-19 placements until at least the end of February 2021. This is due to 

the due to the impact of the pandemic.

The MHCLG have announced Protect Plus and we will be submitting an application to secure an 

additional funding that should enable us to provide accommodation and help resettle the rough 

sleepers in the borough. 

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

4. Safeguard residents: put in place a package of housing measures and creative interventions that 

support the most vulnerable.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

30

60

90

120

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

P
age 17



P I  21 % of emergency jobs completed on time

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

P I   22 % of council properties with valid gas safety certification

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

100% 100% 100% 100% 99.6% 99.5% 99.8%

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

5. Deliver a skilled in-house building management team: progressively improve the standard and 

efficiency of local housing.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

Like many other front-line services, DSO Building Management has been greatly affected by Covid-19 

and staff self-isolating in Q3, which had a consequential impact on resource levels across both the 

responsive repair and void service.  Despite this 7,316 repair jobs were completed and 60 empty 

properties were brought up to a lettable standard, with 96% of the work being completed by the in-

house workforce.
O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

P
age 18



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Services Committee

Date: 04 February 2021

Reporting officer: Lee Georgiou, Service Manager (Housing Options) 

Subject: Housing Allocations Scheme Review

Purpose and summary of report: 
This report outlines the final version of the Council's Housing Allocations Scheme as 
discussed and agreed by the Housing Services Committee in November 2020.  It 
summarises the responses received following a 20 week public consultation period.

The revised scheme provides a greater degree of clarity than the current scheme whilst also 
ensuring that those with the greatest housing need are assisted in order of defined prioirties.

These proposed changes will ensure that the Council’s Housing Allocations Scheme meets 
the requirements of current legislation, guidance and good practice to provide a clear and 
comprehensive scheme which describes how the Council will assess and prioritise the 
demand from applicants for limited social housing within the Borough.

Recommendations:
1. For Members to approve the revised Housing Allocation Scheme to be implemented 

on 05 April 2021.

1. Background

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council is required by Part VI of the Housing Act 1996 to 
publish a Housing Allocations Scheme to determine the basis for which social 
housing will be allocated both for its own housing stock and for Registered 
Providers (Housing Associations) properties to which Gravesham Borough 
Council has nomination rights.

1.2 Allocation Schemes are governed by Part VI the Housing Act 1996 and 
underpinned by Statutory Guidance. 

1.3 The Housing Act 1996 requires that reasonable preference is shown to several 
groups of applicants, including:

1.3.1 Applicants living in overcrowded, insanitary or unsuitable accommodation

1.3.2 Applicants found to be homeless under Part 7 of the Act, 

Page 19 Agenda Item 6



2

1.3.3 Applicants with a medical or welfare related need to move and, 

1.3.4 Applicants who need to live in a specific area to avoid hardship. 

1.4 Local Authorities do have discretion to set other local priorities operating below 
the level of reasonable preference and can determine how applicants with similar 
needs are prioritised.

2. Current Position

2.1 The Council’s existing Housing Allocations Scheme was introduced in 2014 to 
reflect the new legislation at that time relating to welfare reforms and the Localism 
Act 2011.  There have been significant changes to legislation over the past six 
years and it essential that our policy is updated to reflect these changes. 

2.2 At its meeting on 12 February 2020, the Housing Services Cabinet Committee 
agreed in principle to a series of proposed changes to the Council’s existing 
Housing Allocations Scheme as time had proved that the existing policy was not 
as effective as it could be and that those changes should form part of a wider 
public consultation. It was also recognised that a review would help strengthen the 
council’s commitment to continue to help those in greatest need of housing as well 
as making the best use of the limited housing stock that becomes available within 
the Borough.

2.3 Although there have been a number of minor changes to the scheme as part of 
the review, the following changes were subject to public consultation:

2.3.1 A change to the definition of local connection to increase the qualifying 
length of residence or employment in the Borough from 2 years to 3 years.

2.3.2 A change to ‘refusal sanctions’ so that all applicants will be suspended 
from the housing register for 12 months if they refuse a suitable offer.

2.3.3 A change to the definition of Band D priority to include just those 
applicants needing sheltered housing and removing those with no 
identified housing need.

2.3.4 An increase in the priority awarded to certain homeless households with a 
specific need or requirement for social housing in the Borough of 
Gravesham.   

2.3.5 An increase in priority for current and former armed services personnel 
and their families who suffer serious injury or die in service.

2.3.6 An increase in the priority awarded to tenants looking to downsize to a 
property with one less bedroom than their current home from Band B to 
Band A to maximise their chances of securing a transfer and freeing up 
larger homes for families.

2.3.7 The introduction of a Housing Allocations Panel. 

2.4 The internal and external consultation on these proposals ran for a 20 week 
period and closed on 25 October 2020.  Over 20 organisations were emailed 
directly and asked to comment on the proposed changes. 

Page 20



3

2.5 These organisations included all of our Registered Provider partners with housing 
stock in the Borough, various teams within Kent County Council Social Services 
including occupational therapy, older persons physical disability, community 
mental health, learning disability and early help, Porchlight, NWK Mind, Imago and 
Look Ahead. In addition to this, the consultation was available on the Council’s 
website for members of the public to view and comment.

2.6 A draft of the proposed updated scheme was presented to the Housing Services 
Cabinet Meeting on 16 November 2020, to enable Members to provide further 
feedback and comments.  

2.7 Since this time, the Service Manager (Housing Options) has worked with Legal, 
senior managers and colleagues within the organisation to refine some sections of 
the policy, and added additional context where it may be needed to ensure clarity 
and ease of use.  The substantial changes since the previous committee meeting 
include:

2.7.1 Updated the Eligibility section of the Allocation Scheme to reflect the 
changes bought about as a result of the UK leaving the EU on 1st January 
2021.  See paragraph 4.2.

2.7.2 Change in terminology to disqualify applicants from the housing register for 
a period of 12 months following refusals of suitable accommodation, as 
opposed to suspending them.  See paragraphs 4.3- 4.5.

2.7.3 Included travellers as an exception to the Local Connection rules to enable 
them to qualify to be included on the housing register, a recognition of the 
transient lifestyle. 

3. Consultation Responses

3.1 Despite an extended consultation period, only three responses were received, two 
from our Registered Provider partners and one from a local community group.  
Overall the responses agreed with all the principles of the proposed changes as 
set out in Section 2.3 of this report, however, there were some concerns about the 
impact on certain individual cohorts which have been detailed below:

3.1.1 It was suggested that those who receive an offer of accommodation 
following an auto-bid on a property should not be penalised for refusing 
offers, and;  

3.1.2 One respondent did not agree that applicants should be suspended for a 
12 month period following the refusal of an offer, as the offer made might 
not be suitable for their needs.

3.2 Officers have considered both these points and how the issues can be mitigated 
either within the policy or through an administration process to address the 
concerns raised by the respondents and to ensure no one is disadvantaged as a 
result. 

3.3 With regards to the first point in 3.1.1 this has been considered and to mitigate the 
risk of an applicant being penalised for refusing the offer of accommodation by 
way of an auto-bid being placed, applicants will have the ability to de-select 
certain property types and property locations when setting up an auto-bid account. 
This will significantly reduce the likelihood of a property being offered and refused 
due to being in undesirable location or unsuitable property type.      

Page 21



4

3.4 Taking in to account the point made in 3.1.2, officers will only seek to sanction 
applicants for refusing an offer of accommodation that they are satisfied meets the 
needs of the applicants and their household.  At 8.2 of the scheme, it sets what 
will be considered when determining whether an offer is suitable.  It includes but is 
not limited to the size, medical and welfare needs of the households, and the risk 
of domestic abuse or other violence.

3.5 A copy of the final Housing Allocations Scheme can be found in Appendix 2. 

4. Recommendations 

4.1 A significant amount of work has been undertaken in revising the Councils 
Housing Allocations Scheme including internal and external consultations to 
ensure it will allow the allocation of social housing to those most in need in a fair 
and transparent way and therefore recommend that the Housing Services 
Committee approve the revised Housing Allocation Scheme to enable 
implementation from 5 April 2021. 

5. BACKGROUND PAPERS

5.1 12 February 2020 - Housing Services Committee Report, Allocations Policy 
Review

5.2 16 November 2020 – Housing Service Committee Report, Housing Allocation 
Scheme. 

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 22



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal S.167 (1) Housing Act 1996 states “Every local housing authority shall have a 
scheme (their “allocation scheme”) for determining priorities and as to the 
procedure to be followed, in allocating housing accommodation.
For this purpose, “scheme” includes all aspects of the allocation process, including 
the persons or descriptions of persons by whom decisions are to be taken

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Work done to ensure the development of a robust Housing Allocations Scheme will 
enable Gravesham Borough Council to avoid costly legal challenges or 
compensation awards by the Ombudsman.

Risk Assessment It is a statutory requirement for a local authority to have an allocations policy, and 
for that scheme to be lawful, it must comply with all associated legislation and 
codes of guidance.
Failure to have a lawful scheme will lead to legal challenges that the authority 
would not be in a position to defend.
In addition to any legal challenges that might be presented, challenges may also 
come from the Housing Ombudsman, and the Local Government Ombudsman are 
empowered to award damages to those applicants where it is satisfied that 
maladministration has taken place. 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
n/a

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
n/a

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
Any risks will be addressed within the specifc EqIA prior to implementation.  

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan In line with the objectives of the Corporate Plan 2019-24 corporate objective 1 - 
People, the Housing Allocations Policy will help ensure the commitment to provide 
a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing service: high quality tenant 
management experienced through a service making full use of its assets. 

Page 23

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


6

Climate Change n/a

Crime and Disorder The Policy will contribute to addressing crime and disorder by providing a scheme 
which recognises need in the allocation of its housing stock

Digital and website 
implications

The revised policy will be be published on the council's website

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

Provision of homes allocated via the Allocations  will ensure the safeguarding of 
children and vulnerable adults.

Page 24



 
 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

Gravesham Borough Council 
 
 
 

Housing Allocation Scheme 
 
April 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Document Control 

 

Responsible Department  Housing Allocations  

Author   Service Manager (Housing Options)  
     

Consultation   20 week public consultation  

Revision History    
    

Date Previous Description of Revision  
 Version    

    

     

     

     

     

 
 

Page 25



 
 

2 
 

1.0 Introduction  

1.1 Aims of the policy 
  
2.0 Who is eligible?  

2.1 Residential Criteria  
2.2 Qualifying persons  
2.3 Ineligible as a result of immigration status 
2.4 Unacceptable behaviour  
 
3.0 Assessment of need  

3.1 The banding system  
3.2 Medical and welfare priority  
3.3 Suitable size of accommodation  
3.4 Shared responsibility for children 
3.5 Carers  
3.6 Exceptional Priority 
3.7 Direct lets 
3.8 One offer/refusals  
 
4.0 Determining priority  

4.1 Assessment and priority list date 
4.2 Overcrowding/under occupation 
4.3 Property conditions 
 
5.0 Financial criteria  

5.1 Financial resources 
5.2 Outstanding housing related debt 
 
6.0 Allocation Exceptions 

6.1 What this means 
 
7.0 How homes are let  

7.1 Making an application 
7.2 Who can be included in applications 
7.3 Advice and information about your application 
7.4 How to bid for accommodation 
7.5 How housing is allocated 
7.6 Keeping the register up to date 
7.7 Local Lettings Plans 
 
8.0 Reviews and Customer Feedback  

8.1 The Housing Allocation panel 
8.2 Consideration of offers and refusals 
8.3 Reinstatement of offers and refusals 
8.4 Ineligible or disqualified from the register 
8.5 Inaccurate information provided 
8.6 Right to a review  
 
9.0 Equality and diversity  
 
10.0 Scheme Maintenance 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 
 

3 
 

1.0 Introduction 

 
This policy sets out the Councils priorities for how social housing in the Borough of Gravesham is allocated, 
and the guidelines which determine entitlement and eligibility to social housing. This will supersede any 
existing and former policy relating to the allocation of housing and is in accordance with the requirements of 
Section 167 of the Housing Act 1996, as amended by the Homelessness Act 2002.  
  
It also explains what help people can expect from the Council in meeting their housing needs, and sets out 
the system and processes by which we let council-owned homes and make nominations for housing owned 
and managed by housing associations. 
 
If an applicant does not meet any of the priority criteria set out within this policy, they will be excluded from 
joining the Housing Register because there is no identified housing need for social housing.  If an 
applicant’s circumstances change they will need to submit a new application. 
 
The Council will consider all applications for social housing in accordance with this scheme, which sets out: 

 
● Who qualifies to be included on the register. 
● How to apply to get on the register. 
● How we determine an applicant’s priority on the register. 
● How to bid for available properties. 
● How available properties are allocated. 
● How we keep the register up to date. 
● How applicants can seek a review of decisions made regarding the application. 

assessment and allocation process. 
 

The demand for housing from people in need of housing in Gravesham or wishing to move to Gravesham is 
significantly higher than the number of homes available. There is an insufficient supply of social housing 
owned by the Council and Private Registered Providers (Housing Associations) to offer housing to 
everyone who would want it, or even to everyone who needs a home.   

 
This allocation scheme ensures that we allocate the limited number of social homes available as fairly as 
possible and to those in greatest need. The scheme is designed to ensure we comply with our legal 
obligations and to support the objectives of Gravesham’s Housing Strategy.   
 
1.1  Aims of the policy  
 

The broad objectives of the scheme are to: 
 

● To ensure we are letting properties in line with Part VI of the Housing Act 1996. 
● Determine the priority of applicants in a clear, transparent and consistent way. 
● Allocate affordable housing fairly and to those in greatest need. 
● Provide accurate and timely advice and information to allow applicants to make informed 

choices about their housing options. 
● Create sustainable communities by the use of local lettings plans.  
● Make the best use of the housing stock within Gravesham, ensuring that vacant homes 

are let quickly and efficiently. 
● To give applicants a choice of housing accommodation, or the opportunity to express 

preferences about housing accommodation, where this is reasonably practicable, by using 
choice-based letting. 

 
2.0 Who is eligible? 

 
2.1 Residential Criteria 
 

Page 27



 
 

4 
 

You will not be able to join the Housing Register if you do not have a local connection with 
Gravesham.  A local connection under this scheme means: 
 

● Currently living Gravesham and been resident for a continuous period of three years at the 
point of application.  This does not include households placed in temporary accommodation 
under the homelessness legislation or Children Act 1989.  

● Employed in Gravesham and working within the borough continuously for the last three 
years. 

● A Housing Association or Council tenant currently residing outside Gravesham who is 
moving for work related reasons, where a failure to move will cause hardship. 

● If we have accepted the main housing duty under the homelessness legislation (s193 
Housing Act 1996). 

● A serving member of the Regular Armed Forces or a former member within five years of 
discharge (or a bereaved or separated spouse or civil partner of such a member). 

● A serving or former member of the Reserve Armed Forces within five years of discharge 
who needs to move because of a serious injury, medical condition or disability sustained as 
a result of their service. 
 

In exceptional circumstances, applicants will not need to demonstrate a local connection. This can 
include (but is not limited to) applicants who: 
 

● Had a break in the period of continuous residence or employment due to circumstances 
beyond their control. For example, a temporary move to escape violence or threats of 
violence, or a temporary change to their usual place of work. 

● Are currently residing outside Gravesham Borough but need to move into the borough to 
provide or receive significant and ongoing care or support to, or from a close family member 
(children, parents or siblings). 

● Are currently residing outside Gravesham Borough but are at risk of violence or harassment 
(including domestic abuse or hate crime) and that risk would be substantially reduced by a 
move to Gravesham.  

● Are Gravesham residents temporarily displaced because they are currently residing in a 
supported housing or rehabilitation scheme outside the borough. 

● Are aged 55 years or over and have been assessed as suitable for housing within one of our 
designated sheltered housing or extra care schemes.  

● Applicants who are unable to demonstrate a local connection because they are travellers 
who have been pursuing a nomadic lifestyle in accordance with their cultural tradition.   

 
2.2. Qualifying persons 

 
Qualifying persons, all ‘qualifying persons’ are eligible to have their application added to the 
Housing Register. Part VI of the Housing Act 1996, (as amended), confirms that the Secretary of 
State may prescribe who are or are not qualifying persons.  Anyone age 16 or above is able to join 
the Housing Register, unless they are ineligible or disqualified. You will be ineligible if you: 
 

● Are not already a Secure or Introductory Tenant of the Council or an Assured Tenant of a 
Private Registered Provider; and 

● Are a person the Government says cannot be on the list (this includes people who are 
subject to immigration control and do not have permission to be in the United Kingdom 
(UK), or whose immigration status does not allow them to benefit from government help) 

 
2.3 Ineligible as a result of immigration status 

 
The Government states that normally we will not be able to allocate social housing to persons who 
are not already social housing tenants and who need leave to enter or remain in the UK.  This 
applies to all persons except British citizens or persons with a right to reside in the UK under the 
Withdrawal Agreement entered into between the UK and the EU.  

Page 28



 
 

5 
 

 
If you need leave to enter or remain in the UK (regardless of whether or not you have leave) you will 
only be eligible to join the housing list if you are a person who falls into one of the following:  
 

● Recorded by the Secretary of State as a refugee. 
● Granted Exceptional Leave to Remain outside of the Immigration Rules who is not subject 

to a condition of non-recourse to public funds (Indefinite Leave to Remain). 
● Granted unconditional and unlimited leave to remain in the UK, is habitually resident in the 

Common Travel Area (UK, Channel Islands, Isle of Man or Republic of Ireland) and who is 
not sponsored, or whose sponsor(s) have died. 

● Granted Humanitarian Protection. 
● An Afghan citizen granted limited leave to enter the UK under paragraph 276BA1 of the 

Immigration Rules. 
● Granted limited leave to enter or remain in the UK on family or private life grounds under 

Article 8 of the European Convention of Human Rights under 12 paragraph 276BE (1) or 
276DG or Appendix FM of the Immigration Rules who is not subject to a condition of non-
recourse to public funds.  

● Habitually resident in the Common Travel Area and who has been transferred to the United 
Kingdom under section 67 of the Immigration Act 2016 and has limited leave to remain 
under paragraph 352ZH of the Immigration Rules.  

● Habitually resident in the Common Travel Area and who has Calais leave to remain under 
paragraph 352J of the Immigration Rules. (Effective from 1 November 2018).  

● Habitually resident in the Common Travel Area and who has limited leave to remain in the 
UK as a stateless person under paragraph 405 of the Immigration Rules.  

● Limited leave to enter and remain in the UK as the family member of a ‘relevant person of 
Northern Ireland’ by virtue of Appendix EU of the Immigration Rules.  
 

The Government also states that we cannot Allocate housing to anyone unless they are habitually 
resident in the Common Travel Area, subject to certain exceptions for persons with rights of 
residence under the Withdrawal Agreement and persons who are in the UK as a result of being 
deported or expelled from another country.  
 
The Government also states that we cannot allocate housing to a person whose only right to reside 
in the UK is based on their status as a jobseeker or an initial three months’ right of residence, or is a 
derivative right of residence based on being the principal carer for a British citizen.  
 
The Council is not allowed to allocate housing to an ineligible person by granting them a joint 
tenancy with another eligible person.  
 
These rules do not apply to a person who is already a Secure or Introductory Tenant or an Assured 
Tenant of a Private Registered Provider. In that case, you are free to apply for a transfer regardless 
of your immigration status.  
 
The detailed provisions of these rules are complex and the above is only a summary of them. They 
are also subject to change by statutory instruments issued by Government from time to time.  
 

2.4  Unacceptable behaviour  

 

Unacceptable behaviour is behaviour that is sufficiently serious enough for us to consider you to be 
unsuitable to be our tenant. You will not usually qualify to be included on the Housing Register if you 
or a member of your household, has behaved in an unacceptable manner in the preceding five 
years on the date of your application.   
 
Examples of unacceptable behaviour include, but are not limited to the following:  
 

● Eviction or otherwise lost accommodation as a result of anti-social behaviour or rent arrears.   

Page 29



 
 

6 
 

● Conviction of criminal offences in or near your home and we are satisfied you still pose a 
threat to neighbours or the wider community. 

● Threatening or aggressive behaviour towards Gravesham staff or contractors.  
● Racial, sexual, homophobic harassment. 

 
The decision to disqualify you will be made by the Housing Allocations Panel and will take into 
account any supporting information from you, your current or previous landlords, and the police, the 
Community Safety Unit, Probation or any other relevant professional body.  

 
3.0 Assessment of need 

 
3.1 The banding system 

 
To try and be as fair as possible in deciding who should be offered properties, we use a banding 
system to determine priority for re-housing.  Assessment is based on an applicant’s housing 
circumstances, suitability of the property, and any long- term medical problems.   

 

Persons eligible to join the housing list will have their application assessed by an officer and placed 

into one of four bands, in accordance with the ‘fair and flexible’ statutory guidance. The bands are 

referred to as ‘A, B, C and D’, and applications in band A will be given the highest priority for re-

housing, band B the next highest, then C with band D applicants having the lowest priority.  Further 

details of how an applicant's circumstances will determine the priority band they are placed in, are 

set out in Appendix 1. 

 

3.2 Medical and Welfare priority  

 
Our assessment is not based on the nature or severity of any medical condition or disability but is 
focused on the direct impact that the current housing has on any condition or disability, and whether 
this could be alleviated by a move to a more suitable home.  
 

For example, priority may be awarded if you may have mobility issues which make it difficult for you 
to climb stairs and you are unable to access your bedroom or bathroom facilities on a different floor 
as these are only accessible by stairs. In this situation, you would benefit from a move to a property 
that provides level living. We will only assess your priority on medical and/or welfare grounds if 
there is evidence that your current housing impacts directly on your medical condition, disability or 
welfare. We will not usually assess your priority on medical or welfare grounds if your household is 
already in Band A as an assessment cannot increase your priority. 
 
Priority on medical or welfare grounds is assessed on the basis of the information you submit. If you 
consider that anyone in your household has a medical condition that is adversely affected by your 
current housing, you must provide independent verification from your GP, Nurse, Hospital 
Consultant, Occupational Therapist or other health care professional. In welfare cases you should 
provide independent verification of your circumstances from your Social Worker, Support Worker or 
other professional involved in your case.  For medical cases we may ask you to provide further 
evidence or refer your case for independent medical advice.  For welfare assessments we may ask 
you to provide further evidence or (where appropriate) we may make a joint assessment with Social 
Services, or an appropriate support agency. 
 
We assess your priority by looking at your current housing.  If it meets the medical and welfare 
needs of you and all members of your household there will be no change in your housing priority. 
We look at whether your current housing makes a medical condition or disability worse, and 
whether it is possible to make relevant adaptations, such as providing a stair lift or wet room to your 
home. In mobility cases we look at the severity of your difficulties in relation to your property.  
Factors such as the number of steps inside and leading to a property, width of internal doorways 
and circulation space, and whether you have a lift or ramp may be relevant.  The assessment will 

Page 30



 
 

7 
 

consider whether a move to more suitable housing would either improve the medical condition or 
substantially improve your quality of life. If you have medical needs, but a move would not 
significantly improve the situation, there will be no change in priority based on medical grounds.  
 

Overcrowding may impact on the health and well-being of some or all members of your household 
and/or the needs of any dependent children. This is taken into account in the banding priority 
awarded due to overcrowding, and usually no further priority will be awarded. 
 
Similarly, when assessing priority on welfare grounds we will consult with other people involved in 
your care, as this may identify ways to help you stay in your current home with appropriate ongoing 
support. If this resolves your support needs, you will not be awarded any priority on welfare 
grounds. Otherwise, we look at whether your needs are made worse by your current housing. If so, 
we will consider whether a move to more suitable housing would improve things for you. If you have 
welfare needs, but a move would not significantly improve the situation, there will be no change in 
priority on welfare grounds. 
 
If you need to move into the borough in order to provide or receive significant and ongoing care or 
support to or from a close family member (children, grandchildren, parents, grandparents or 
brothers/sisters) we will look at the following factors as part of the assessment: 
 

● The level of care and support that is required and whether this can be provided locally or by 
a formal care package. 

● Whether you and/or your family member can drive or use public transport. 
● Whether you and/or your family member are in receipt of Carer’s Allowance. 
● Whether you need or can provide frequent assistance with activities of daily living, including 

household chores, preparing and cooking meals, organising finances and attending to 
medical needs including administering medication and attending appointments. 

 
If you want to move within the borough to provide or receive significant and ongoing care or 
support to or from a close family member you will not usually be considered for priority on welfare 
grounds. 
 
If you are currently living in supported housing (including refuge) and have been assessed by the 
support provider as ready to move on into independent living, you will usually be awarded Band B 
priority on welfare grounds.  
 
If you are experiencing difficulties in accessing your home due to non-medical matters such as 
carrying children, shopping, prams or pushchairs on external or communal stairs or do not have 
access to a private garden, you will not usually be awarded any change in priority based on 
medical or welfare grounds. 

 
3.3 Suitable size accommodation 

 
 Generally, social housing is offered in line with the following guide: 

 
Household composition 
 

Type and Size of Home 
 

A single person. Bedsit, studio flat, or one bedroom flat, 
house, or bungalow (or sheltered 
accommodation if appropriate). 

A couple One bedroom flat, house, or bungalow 
(or sheltered accommodation if 
appropriate). 

Two adults (or a couple with a verified 
need for separate bedrooms). 

Two bedroom flat, house, or bungalow 
(or sheltered accommodation if 
appropriate). 

Page 31



 
 

8 
 

A couple or single parent with one child. Two bedroom flat, house or bungalow. 

A couple or single parent with two children.  Two or three bedroom flat, house or 
bungalow (depending on age/sex of 
children). 

A couple or single parent with three or 
more children. 

Three or four bedroom house, 
(depending on age/sex of children). 

 
Exceptions to this guide, depending on individual circumstances, which include (but are not limited 
to) applicants where: 
 

● There is a medical recommendation for a bigger home for example: 
o To meet a medical or disability need for an extra bedroom. 
o Accommodate a carer. 
o The available home has special adaptations which you need and there are no other 

applicants of the correct household size available that need those adaptations. 
● The home is offered as the result of an emergency. 
● The home is offered to a homeless applicant as temporary accommodation. 
● The home is offered to a downsizing tenant who has requested an additional bedroom to 

their assessed need which has been agreed by the Housing Allocations. 
● The home is offered under the specific terms of a Local Lettings Plan. 

 
Bungalows will usually be allocated to households where the applicant or a member of their 
household has been assessed as needing level-living accommodation. 
 

3.4 Shared responsibilities for dependent children 
  

The Council acknowledges that many separated or divorced parents continue to share 
responsibilities for their children including providing a home for them. Where any dependent 
children live with you some of the time and at other times with their other parent/guardian at a 
separate address, we will assess whether your address is their main home so that they can be 
included as members of your household. 
 
We will take into account: 
 

● The financial support you receive including Child Benefit, Universal Credit/tax credits, 
disability benefits (if appropriate) and maintenance from their other parent/guardian 

● Any Family Court Order(s) under the Children Act (1989) in respect of parental 
responsibility, contact or residency. 

● Supporting evidence from Social Services in respect of fostering, guardianship or adoption 
placements. 

● Whether the children currently reside with someone else for all or part of each week. 
 

Regardless of the amount of time that your children actually spend with you, if we decide that their 
main home is not with you, they will not be included on your Housing Register application; and they 
will not be considered when assessing overcrowding/under-occupation or the size of property 
(number of bedrooms) that you can apply for or be offered under this scheme. 
 

3.5 Carers 
 

A carer is someone who looks after and supports a partner, friend, relative or neighbour who would 
not be able to manage without their help.  This could be due to age, physical or mental illness or 
disability.  It does not mean a professional care-worker or personal assistant who gets paid for their 
work.  
 
If you have identified a primary carer we will consider whether they need to live with you or near you 
to provide care. They may be entitled to Carer’s Allowance if they spend at least 35 hours per week 

Page 32



 
 

9 
 

in their caring role.  Even if your carer receives Carer’s Allowance it may not be essential that they 
live with you as a member of your household.  
 
If you have requested an additional bedroom for your carer, this will be considered by the Housing 
Allocations Panel who will take into account: 
 

● Whether your carer receives Carer’s Allowance. 
● Whether your care needs have been assessed as including overnight support. 
● Whether you have been awarded benefits because of illness or disability including. 

Disability Living Allowance (Care component), Personal Independence Payment (Daily 
living component), Attendance Allowance, Industrial Injuries Disablement Benefit, 
Employment and Support Allowance. 

● The level of care that you need and whether this is likely to change in the future. 
● The ability of your carer to provide the level of care required. 
● Your current accommodation, and where your carer currently resides. 

 
3.6 Exceptional priority  
 

In order to assist the national police force to tackle serious crime and to support witnesses in the 
legal process, the council works in partnership with colleagues in the National Witness Mobility 
Programme (NWMS) and will, as required, accept referrals from this source.  

 

Such cases will have been assessed and verified by the NWMS managers and referrals will only be 

accepted with the agreement of the Service Manager (Housing Options). There are particular 

confidentiality considerations for such cases and no personal information will be taken until the 

applicant accepts a direct offer of accommodation in the district. Any proposed offer will be checked 

for suitability by the NWMS before the offer is made and details of successful lettings may not 

subsequently be made available to the public. 

 
3.7 Direct lets 

 
Certain properties are excluded from choice-based letting (bidding) and are allocated by making a 
direct offer to an applicant.  This includes (but is not limited to) applicants: 
 

● with an immediate need to move on health or welfare grounds, where the current home is 
unsuitable, or where there is an immediate threat of violence; or 

● who are subject to current multi-agency public protection arrangements (MAPPA), and who 
pose a very serious risk to the community, where the type or location of properties that are 
suitable may need to be restricted; or 

● who have been temporarily decanted from their current housing to enable demolition or 
redevelopment work and who need to transfer to a suitable property within the new 
development; or 

● with a need for a bespoke adapted home which is to be provided within a new development 
(as agreed by the Housing Allocations Panel); or 

● to discharge our duty to provide accommodation to some homeless households under the 
Housing Act 1996 (as amended). 

 
Wherever possible the direct allocation of a property will match the applicant’s assessed need in 
terms of number of bedrooms needed or floor level, and any essential requirements on health and 
welfare grounds.  Other factors such as non-essential preferences regarding the location or type of 
housing will not normally be taken into account.  

 
3.8  One offer/refusals 

 
Only one direct offer of housing will be made which applicants will be expected to accept. If this is 

Page 33



 
 

10 
 

refused, the reasons for refusal will be considered by the Housing Allocations Panel who will decide 
if the property offered was suitable. If the property offered was unsuitable, then one further offer will 
be made. However, if the property offered was suitable then no further direct allocation will be made 
and the applicant will be removed from the Housing Register and disqualified for 12 months.  
 

4.0 Determining priority  

 
4.1 Assessment and priority list date 

 
We assess all of the information you provide to support your application and may ask you to provide 
further evidence to support your application.  
 
If you are eligible and not disqualified, the two main factors that determine priority on the register 
are your assessed need (Bands A to D) and your priority date. Your priority date will usually be the 
date that your online application is made, unless your application is rejected if you fail to provide the 
information we need to assess it within 28 days of applying.  
 
Where there is a subsequent relevant change in your circumstances that affects your priority band 
assessment, your priority date will usually be changed to the date we were notified of the change. 
We will email to tell you whether or not you have been included on the register.  If you have been 
included, we will tell you the size of property you are eligible to bid for and in which priority band you 
have been placed.  You have the right to request a review of the facts of your case that we have 
used in this assessment.   
 
You must tell us of any change in your circumstances within 14 days of the change.  We will email 
you to let you know if the change affects your level of housing need and/or your priority band.  The 
banding reflects broad levels of housing need, so some changes in your circumstances may make 
no difference to the band you are in.  However, sometimes a significant change in circumstances, 
such as a move to another address, the birth of another child, a change to your household income 
or savings or a substantial change in mobility may result in a reassessment of your priority.  Your 
application will usually be suspended and you will not be able to bid for any properties until you 
have provided enough written evidence to allow us to verify the change and reassess your priority, 
regardless as to whether your priority banding actually changes. 
 

Your household will be placed in the appropriate band according to its highest need, not the 
accumulation of its needs.  For example, if you are awarded priority on the grounds of overcrowding 
and are lacking two or more bedrooms, you will be placed into Band B regardless of whether you 
also have another need such as a non-essential medical or welfare reason for moving. 
 

4.2 Overcrowding/under occupation 
 

We assess overcrowding and under-occupation by comparing the number of bedrooms in your 
home against your household’s needs.  You will be assessed as needing one bedroom for: 
 

● Every adult couple. 
● Any other adult aged 18 or over. 
● Any two children of the same sex aged under 18. 
● Any two children aged under 10. 
● A carer (or team of carers) who does not live with you but provides you or a member of 

your household with regular overnight care. 
 

You will be assessed as needing an extra bedroom if: 
 

● You have a disabled child who is unable to share a room with a sibling. 
● You are an approved foster carer whether or not a child has been placed with you or you are 

between placements (as long as you have fostered a child, or become an approved foster 

Page 34



 
 

11 
 

carer in the last 12 months). 
● You have adult children in the Armed Forces (but who continue to live with you) who will be 

treated as continuing to live at home, even when deployed on operations. 
● A member of your household is temporarily absent from your home because they are 

attending a full time University or higher education course. 
 

A bedroom is defined as any room intended to be used as a bedroom, in line with what is stated on 
any tenancy agreement and to reflect the level of rent charged. If your current home has two 
separate living/reception rooms it is probable that one of these could be considered as suitable for 
use as a bedroom.  

  
For the purposes of assessing overcrowding: 

 
● Two children of the same sex would be expected to share a bedroom until the eldest 

reaches 18 years of age. 
● Two children of the opposite sex would be expected to share a bedroom until the eldest 

reaches 10 years of age. 
● A couple or single parent would not be expected to share their bedroom with a child. 
● A room measuring less than 50 sq. ft. (4.65 sq. m) would not be treated as a bedroom. 

 
4.3 Property condition  

 

If you rent your current home from a private landlord and you state that your reason for seeking 
social housing is due to problems with the condition of your home, a member of our Private Sector 
Housing team will contact you and your landlord or managing agent responsible for the property. 
You must cooperate with this and any subsequent property inspection that may be required.  No 
priority will be awarded if you withhold your consent to allow us to contact your landlord or prevent 
works being carried out, for example by refusing to let contractors into your home to undertake the 
works. 
 
If a visit is determined necessary by the Private Sector Housing team, they will inspect and assess 
your home using the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS).  We use this to identify 
and categorise any hazards to health and safety.  A crowding and space hazard is included within 
the housing needs assessment of overcrowding and, if present, no additional priority will be 
awarded under property condition grounds.   
 
Band A priority will only be awarded to applicants who currently occupy a property which has at 
least one Category 1 hazard (excluding crowding and space) where the conditions present an 
immediate threat of serious injury or are life threatening and where remedial action is considered 
unreasonable or impractical for cost or other reasons.   
 

Examples of where remedial action is considered unreasonable or impractical is where: 
 

● Work cannot be carried out to remedy a serious hazard with the applicant in residence 
and no alternative accommodation is available to the applicant to assist in progressing 
remedial works. 

● The risk from the hazard in the property is greater because of being an elderly person or 
having a young child but the property would be relatively safe for occupation by others. 

 
Band B priority will only be awarded to applicants who occupy a property which has at least one 
Category 1 hazard (excluding crowding and space) where:  
 

● The hazard(s) identified pose a threat to the health and wellbeing of the occupants but 
where there is no immediate danger or it is not life-threatening, and remedial action is 
considered unreasonable or impractical. 

Page 35



 
 

12 
 

● You do not have access to one or more of the basic facilities: bathroom, kitchen, inside 
toilet, cold or hot water supplies, or gas/electricity and this cannot be remedied within a 
reasonable timescale. (This does not apply if you live in shared accommodation and 
share facilities with another household). 

 
Any priority awarded on the grounds of property condition will be removed if the necessary remedial 
works are completed before you are offered social housing. 

 
5.0 Financial criteria 
 
5.1 Financial resources 

 
If you own or jointly own a property, (including under a shared ownership arrangement) whether or 
not you currently live there, you will not usually be included on the Housing Register. Homeowners 
who need to move on medical or welfare grounds or grounds relating to a disability may be 
considered for sheltered, adapted or other suitable accommodation in accordance with their 
assessed needs where their needs cannot be met from the proceeds of the sale of the current 
property or their current income and capital, including savings.  
 
If you have a total household income or capital (including savings) above the thresholds described 
below, you will not usually be included on the Housing Register. The current limits are for 
households: 
 

● Without dependent children with a total gross income of £40,000 or more. 
● With dependent children with a total gross income of £60,000 or more. 
● With total capital assets or savings of £16,000 or more. 

 
Current payments of the following are disregarded as income for the purposes of this assessment: 
 

● Disability living allowance. 
● Attendance allowance and any benefit treated as attendance allowance. 
● Personal Independence Payments. 
● Armed Forces Independence Payment  
● War pensioner’s mobility supplement. 
● Payments in compensation for non-receipt of the above. 

 
This does not apply to homeless persons to whom the Council owes the main housing duty under 
section 193 of Housing Act 1996, transfer applications from existing Secure Tenants of the Council 
or Assured Tenants of Private Registered Providers or leaseholders where the Council is buying 
back the property as part of a decant programme. 

 
5.2 Outstanding housing related debt 
 

It is an essential policy of the Council and our partner landlords that we collect rent and other 
housing-related debt. Applicants who have an outstanding housing-related debt owed to the 
Council, another social landlord or a private sector landlord (including but not limited to rent arrears, 
council tax arrears, Housing Benefit overpayments and rent deposit scheme arrears) will be 
disqualified from joining the Housing Register until they have entered into a repayment plan and 
have made continuous repayments in accordance with the plan for a minimum period of six months.  
 
Once their application has been accepted onto the Housing Register, repayments should continue 
to be made on a regular basis until the debt is cleared. If the applicant breaches their repayment 
plan, they will be suspended from receiving any offer of accommodation. If the applicant is 
successful in bidding for a social home, any outstanding debts must usually be cleared in full before 
a property will be allocated.  
 

Page 36



 
 

13 
 

In some cases where an applicant would otherwise be offered accommodation but for such a debt 
and where it is considered that although regular repayments are in place there is no reasonable 
prospect of them repaying the debt within the timeframe required because they are unable to gain 
employment because of  physical or mental illness, learning or physical disability, or are considered 
to be unable to adequately manage their finances due to health or disability reasons, the offer may 
still be agreed. This decision will be made by the Housing Allocation Panel.  

 
6.0 Allocations Exceptions 

 
6.1 What this means 

 
The scheme covers all Council and Registered Provider properties, which the Council have 
nomination rights for. These are available to let on an Introductory Tenancy, Secure Tenancy, or 
Assured Tenancy and include flexible tenancies and those let under the affordable rented schemes.  
The following are not considered to be an allocation under this scheme: 
 

● Statutory right of succession to a tenancy on the death of the original tenant. 
● When an introductory tenancy becomes a secure tenancy at the end of the probationary 

period. 
● Where a Court makes a decision about a tenancy (such as an order under the 

Children Act). 
● Where we let a property directly to someone as temporary accommodation only. This may 

include people who need to move out for a while whilst refurbishment is carried out 
(temporary decant), but does not include people who need to be moved out of their home 
permanently.  

● Where the tenant is returning to the property after refurbishment or improvement. 
● Mutual exchanges. 
● Tenancies granted under section 39 of the Land Compensation Act 1973 or sections 554 

and 555 of the Housing Act 1985. 
 
7.0 How Homes are let  
 
7.1 Making an application 

 

Everyone that wants to be considered for inclusion on our Housing Register must carry out the 
application process set out below: 
 

● Complete the on-line application form at: 
 https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/housing/apply-for-housing/apply-housing-register 
with details of your housing history and the current needs of you and your household. 

● Provide original documents to verify your identity and current housing circumstances. 
● Complete any supplementary forms that we may send or answer further questions that we 

ask you. 
 

This ensures that all applicants are assessed in a transparent and consistent manner and that we 
have all of the information needed about your household and current circumstances to determine 
whether you qualify to join the Housing Register and if so, what priority banding is appropriate:  

 

You can complete an assessment form to record your household’s housing needs if you are 16 
years of age or over.  You can be included on only one application for housing in this borough.  This 
can either be your own personal application or you can be included as a household member in 
another person’s application.   
 

You must complete the assessment form fully and accurately.  We will use it to decide your priority 
on the Housing Register so that housing can be allocated fairly on the basis of greatest need.  We 
will carry out home visits and interviews to confirm housing needs. 

Page 37

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/housing/apply-for-housing/apply-housing-register


 
 

14 
 

  
If you are between 16 and 18 years of age, before you are offered social housing, your ability to 
manage a tenancy will be assessed, usually via a referral to Social Services or other support 
services, to identify any need for support. You will need a guarantor, usually your parent, legal 
guardian or other relative as any tenancy granted will be held in trust until you reach 18 years of 
age. 
 

You are required to sign declarations to confirm that you: 
 

● Have provided true, accurate and complete information. 
● Will notify us of any change in your circumstances within 14 days of the change. 
● Understand that information given on the assessment form will be shared with housing 

association landlords, other council departments, data matching companies and other 
relevant parties. 

● Consent to us making relevant enquiries to verify the information given on the assessment 
form. 

● Consent to the disclosure of relevant information by third parties to us, or by us to third 
parties. 

● Understand that information provided may be used to help in the detection and prevention 
of fraud. 

 
7.2 Who can be included on applications?  

 

You can include members of your household who are currently living together with you, including  
 

● Your partner, whether you are married, in a civil partnership or cohabiting. 
● You and your partner’s dependent children under the age of 18, including adopted children. 
● Relatives, including adult children, parents or brothers/sisters unless they have a separate 

application or otherwise intend to live independently from you. 
● Someone who currently lives with you as your caregiver.  

 
We will also consider including partners, carers and their dependents who are not currently living 
with you if you are: 
 

● No longer able to live independently because you need care and support that they can 
provide (or they need care and support that you can provide) and you are unable to live 
together as your current accommodation does not meet any needs arising from a disability. 

● Unable to live together as neither you nor any other member of your household have 
accommodation available which is large enough to accommodate your whole household 
together. 

 
 
7.3 Advice and information about your application  

 

Advice and information about your application can be obtained from the Housing Allocation Team at 
allocations@gravesham.gov.uk  
 
If you are homeless or threatened with homelessness you should contact 
housingneedsteam@gravesham.gov.uk for immediate advice and assistance.  
 
All applicants accepted onto the Housing Register are entitled to see their entry and receive a copy 
of their application. An applicant also has the right to request general information to assess how 
their application is likely to be treated under this housing allocation scheme and whether and when 
housing appropriate to his/her needs is likely to become available.  
 
In practice waiting times depend on a range of factors, including: 

Page 38

mailto:allocations@gravesham.gov.uk
mailto:housingneedsteam@gravesham.gov.uk


 
 

15 
 

 
● Your personal circumstances including your priority banding and the size and type of 

property needed to meet your household’s need. 
● The number of properties available for letting. 
● The number of bids placed for each property. 
● Changes in the law, regulations or guidance, or the rules of this Housing Allocation 

Scheme. 
 

Only a very general indication can be given as to how long an applicant may have to wait to be 
successful by using historical allocations data. There is no guarantee of housing by a certain date 
regardless of the priority band awarded.  Households with a relatively low need are likely to wait a 
very long time and many have no realistic prospect of receiving an offer of social housing. 
  

7.4 How to bid for accommodation 
 

Gravesham Council is a member of Kent Homechoice, a partnership of local councils and 
Registered Providers who allocate housing throughout Kent via a Choice Based Lettings (CBL) 
system.   

 
CBL enables applicants to apply for suitable housing in their borough via an online bidding process.  
After a property is let, feedback about the number of households that made a bid, the priority band 
of the successful applicant, and their priority date is available to view to bidders on Kent 
Homechoice. This helps applicants to understand the availability of suitable properties, their 
likelihood of success when applying and to gain an indication of the time they could be waiting. 
 
Using CBL is in accordance with the Council’s policy of offering people who are to be allocated 
housing accommodation— a choice of housing accommodation, or the opportunity to express 
preferences about housing accommodation, where this is practicable. 

 
When your application has been accepted onto our Housing Register you will receive confirmation 
of your priority banding and details of how to access the Kent Homechoice CBL process.  All 
housing offered by Gravesham and our partners within the borough is advertised at 
www.kenthomechoice.org.uk and each property will be available for applicants to place bids for a 
period of five calendar days.  

 
The advertisements show photographs and give basic details of the properties.  These include: the 
area, number of bedrooms, floor level and mobility level, weekly rent and service charges, along 
with any age or pet restrictions.  There are no restrictions on the number of properties that you can 
bid for and you can place bids on any property that meet your household’s needs as and when they 
are advertised. 

 
If you prefer, we can set up auto-bidding on your account which means that a bid will automatically 
be placed on all properties that meet your needs by the close of bidding so that you will be included 
on all of the relevant shortlists and do not miss any opportunities to be offered affordable housing. 
 
Certain properties will not be advertised under CBL or will only be open for bids from certain 
applicants. This includes direct lets under section 3.7 of this scheme. Properties that have been 
adapted for wheelchair users and those within sheltered housing schemes are usually offered only 
to those who would benefit from them. Properties made available under local lettings plans (see 
section 7.7 below) will only be open to bidding from applicants meeting the criteria set under those 
plans. 

 
7.5 How housing is allocated 

 

Page 39



 
 

16 
 

After the advertisements have closed, a shortlist is produced for each property which ranks all the 
bids placed in priority order, with applicants in Band A first, Band B second and so on.  Within each 
band, the order of bids is ranked by the applicant’s priority date, starting with the earliest. 
 
If two or more applicants share the same priority date within the priority band, the system will 
randomly place them in order of priority. The applicant at the top of the shortlist will be verified to 
check that the information they have given is correct and that the property is suitable. Once verified, 
the highest priority applicant will usually be offered the property, subject to any additional criteria 
that apply such as a local lettings plan, age restriction or suitability. If an applicant is not verified, 
does not respond to an offer or the offer is refused, the property will be offered to the next applicant 
in the shortlist, and so on, until the property is successfully let. 
 
An applicant who is the highest priority bidder for more than one property will be asked to list the 
properties in their order of preference.  They will usually be offered their first choice of property.  If 
this is not suitable they will be offered their second choice, and so on. 
 
The relative position of bidders on the shortlist for a property may change between the close of 
bidding and when the property is offered. This will only happen where there is a change in the 
priority band awarded for one or more bidders on the shortlist, this would normally be as a result of 
the verification process. In such cases, the property will usually be offered to the applicant with the 
highest priority at the time the offer is made. 
 
If there are no successful bidders the property will usually be re-advertised or it may be offered as a 
direct allocation to another applicant on the Housing Register.  Once you are shortlisted and 
nominated for a property you will not be considered for any other properties that you have placed a 
bid on.  

 
7.6 Keeping the register up to date 

 

We will contact you once a year, on or near the anniversary of the date you were first registered to 
check whether you wish to remain on the register for another year.  We will also remind you to tell 
us about any changes in your circumstances. If you fail to respond, or fail to provide any further 
information we ask for within 28 days, we will assume that you no longer wish to be on the register, 
and your application will be removed.  If you notify us of a change of circumstances, you must also 
supply evidence of the change within 28 days so we can reassess your application. 
 

Your application will be removed from the Housing Register if you:  
 

● Accept an offer of accommodation made from the Housing Register.  
● Accept a private sector tenancy, including when we have provided financial assistance by 

way of a rent deposit and no longer have a qualifying housing need. 
● Do not respond to the annual review. 
● Do not respond to correspondence from the Council asking you to provide information. 
● Are no longer eligible to be included on the register. 
● No longer wish to be re-housed. 
● Have left temporary accommodation that we arranged for you and we do not have your 

forwarding address. 
● Have moved without notifying us of your new address. 

 
 
7.7 Local Lettings Plans 

 

National and regional policies encourage new housing schemes to be mixed tenure, catering for a 
range of needs and aspirations.  Alongside this we may use Local Lettings Plans to make social 
housing available to a wider range and variety of households, rather than concentrations of those 
with particular support needs to contribute towards balanced and sustainable communities. 

Page 40



 
 

17 
 

 
Local lettings plans will set out the criteria and priorities for letting homes within a specific housing 
development or area. Local Lettings Plans will be agreed by the Assistant Director (Housing) in 
consultation with the relevant Cabinet member. 

 
8.0 Reviews and customer feedback 

 
8.1 The Housing Allocation Panel 

 
The Housing Allocations Panel comprises a group of three or more officers with at least one 
representative from the Housing Allocations Team, the Housing Options Team and an independent 
senior manager from within the organisation that is not connected to Housing Services. They will 
meet on a regular basis to make and review decisions. The Panel will normally be chaired by the 
Senior Allocations Officer who will be responsible for notifying the applicant of the outcome. 
 
The panel may also invite other relevant partners to attend, including but not limited to the 
Community Safety Team and other partner landlords.  There is no right to review a decision made 
by the Housing Allocation Panel.  

 
8.2 Consideration of offers and refusals 

 
After the shortlisting and checking processes, the successful bidder will be contacted to arrange for 
them to view the property and attend a verification interview.  If you are offered a home then you 
would normally be expected to accept or refuse it within 24 hours of the viewing.  
 
If you refuse an offer, your application will be removed from the Housing Register and you will be 
disqualified for 12 months. If you feel the property you have been offered does not meet your needs, 
you can ask for a review as to the suitability of the property and you will need to provide detailed 
reasons for your refusal.  
 
Your request will be considered by the Housing Allocations Panel who will consider the suitability of 
the offer in accordance with your assessed needs taking into account (but not limited to): 
 

● The size, floor level, space and arrangement of the property, and whether it meets the 
housing needs of the household. 

● Any medical or welfare grounds for re-housing. 
● Any risk of domestic or other violence. 

 
We will not hold the property for you during the review period; it will be immediately re-offered to 
another applicant and you will not receive any further offers during this time. If the review confirms 
the property was suitable your refusal will result in your application being removed from the Housing 
Register and you being disqualified for 12 months. If your reasons for refusal are accepted by the 
Housing Allocations Panel, and the property offered is considered to be unsuitable for your needs 
you will be able to continue bidding without any penalty. 

 
8.3 Reinstatement of exceptional cases 
 

In exceptional circumstances the Council may reinstate applications which have been disqualified or 
suspended for a particular reason.  Applicants should write to the Service Manager (Housing 
Options), who may reinstate the applicant or make an offer if they are satisfied and it can be proved 
that disqualification from the Housing Register would cause exceptional hardship to the applicant 
and their household. There will be no further right of review of the decision of the Service Manager 
(Housing Options). 
 

Page 41



 
 

18 
 

The effect of a decision to reinstate a disqualified application on the grounds of exceptional hardship 
will be that the application is treated as having been made on the date it was originally made, not 
the date on which it was reinstated.  
 

8.4 Ineligible or disqualified from the Housing Register 

 
We will write to you to notify you if we decide that you are not eligible or disqualified from the 
housing register.  You have a right to review the decision, details of how we carry out the review can 
be found at Section 8.6 of this scheme. 
 

8.5 Inaccurate information provided 

 
The Council is under a duty to protect the public funds it administers and to this end may use the 
information you provide for the prevention and detection of fraud.  It may also share this information 
with other Council departments, other local authorities, Government agencies and credit referencing 
agencies for the detection and prevention of crime. It is an offence under the Housing Act 1996 
and/or the Fraud Act 2006 for anyone seeking help from the Council to: 

 
● Give false or misleading information. 
● Withhold information that we have asked for on an assessment form or in subsequence 

correspondence. 
● Fail to tell us of a relevant change in their circumstances which could affect the priority for 

housing they have been awarded.  
 

This may result in prosecution, your application being suspended or cancelled and/or any tenancy 
granted to you being terminated.  Prosecution by the Council could result in a sentence of up to ten 
years in prison. 

 
It is your responsibility to inform us of any change that could affect the priority that has been 
awarded.  If we offer affordable housing to you and, on further investigation, it appears that your 
circumstances had changed before the offer in a way that affected your housing priority; we reserve 
the right to withdraw the offer. While the investigation is ongoing the property will not usually be held 
for you and will be reallocated to the next person on the shortlist.  
 
When housing has been allocated on the basis of false or misleading information, legal action may 
be taken to obtain possession of the property.  We will decide when these provisions apply and 
when to begin criminal proceedings. 
 
The Housing Register is registered under the current data protection legislation.  Information on it is 
received, held, and disclosed only for registered purposes. Applicants have the right to see 
information on their file relating to their application except where this involves confidential third party 
information.  If an applicant is not eligible or does not meet the qualifying criteria for inclusion on the 
register or respond to an annual review of their entry on the register or is otherwise removed from 
the register, their records will be kept for five years before being confidentially deleted. 

 
8.6 Right to a review 
 

 You have the right to request a review of any decision: 
 

● To treat you as ineligible because of your immigration status; or 
● To exclude or suspend you from the register because you do not qualify. 
● Setting out the facts of your case which have been, or are likely to be, taken into account in 

determining your priority on the register. 
 

The notification of the decision will give clear grounds for the decision based on the relevant facts of 
your case. To request a review of a decision you must make a request in writing within 21 days of 

Page 42



 
 

19 
 

receiving it and clearly state why you do not agree with the decision.  We may ask you to provide 
more information and/or attend an interview.  Reviews will usually be carried out by the Housing 
Allocations Panel. 
 
The review will look at your case on the basis of the rules in our Housing Allocation Scheme, any 
legal requirements and all relevant information. This includes information you have provided and 
any changes since the original decision was made, for example paying off arrears or setting up a 
repayment plan, or where someone responsible for anti-social behaviour has left your household. 
We will not carry out a further review of the decision unless there is a material change in your 
circumstances.   

 
9. Equality and Diversity 

 

Gravesham is a diverse borough and home to people from a wide range of backgrounds and 
communities.  We are committed to all of our residents having the opportunity to reach their 
potential and seek to ensure our services meet all of their needs.  We seek to ensure that no 
section of our community is excluded from the benefits and opportunities available and that we 
always have regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation. The 
policy will be applied consistently to everyone who applies to or is on the housing waiting list 
regardless of race, gender, disability, age, sexuality, religion or belief.   

 
10. Scheme maintenance  

 

The Housing Service is responsible for this scheme, and will review its operation every year and 
follow any changes to the relevant legislation or regulations. 
 
It may sometimes be necessary to make minor amendments to this scheme, which do not represent 
a major change of policy. Authority to introduce such minor amendments is delegated to the 
Assistant Director (Housing) in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Housing Services.  
 
We will seek to inform all applicants of any changes to this scheme by publicising details on our 
website and on Kent Homechoice. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 43



 
 

20 
 

Appendix 1 

 
 
Band A – Urgent priority.  

 
Applicants in Band A have the highest priority. However, other options may still need to be sought 
so that Applicants can move more quickly.  Our Housing Options Officer will discuss this with you. 
 
This band includes the following: 

 
● Those with an urgent need to move as their current accommodation is unsuitable for their 

medical or disability needs and they are unable to be discharged home from hospital or other 
clinical or respite facilities. 

● Where an applicant has a terminal illness and the current accommodation is unsuitable for 
their medical needs and end-of-life care.  

● Households that need to move because they will suffer from severe physical or mental illness 
as a result of their present housing circumstances. 

● Transfer applicants currently living in a property with significant adaptations to meet a disability 
need but those adaptations are not required by any member of the household. 

● Transfer applicants who need to move because their home is scheduled for redevelopment by 
the Council or one of its development partners. 

● Applicants who have been assessed by the Housing Allocations Panel as needing a move 
under the National Witness Mobility Programme (NWMP) or other similar vulnerable person 
protection scheme.  

● Where the Private Sector Housing Team have assessed there are one or more Category 1 
hazards (as assessed under the Housing Health and Safety Rating Scheme) or other severe 
property conditions that impose an imminent risk of harm to the occupants and remedial action 
is considered unreasonable or impractical for cost or other reasons. 

● Applicants who have been assessed by the Housing Allocations Panel as needing a move due 
to an immediate, urgent or exceptional need. 

● Where there is a rehousing obligation because a demolition, prohibition or compulsory 
purchase order has been served in respect of the applicant’s current accommodation. 

● Transfer applicants who are looking to downsize and move to a home with at least one less 
bedroom than in their current home. 

● Applicants who are living in accommodation that is three bedrooms short of the Bedroom 
Standard.   

● Serving members of the Armed Forces who need to move because of a serious injury, medical 
condition or disability sustained as a result of your service. 

● The bereaved spouse or civil partner of a member of the Armed Forces leaving Services 
Family Accommodation following the death of your spouse or partner. 

 
Band B – High priority.  
 

Applicants in Band B have a high priority but are still likely to have to wait some time to be 
rehoused.    
 
This band includes the following: 
 
● Applicants who are living in accommodation that is two bedrooms short of the bedroom 

standard. 
● Anyone who will probably become homeless within 90 days but has not yet become homeless 

(including domestic violence and harassment cases). 
● Homeless applicants where we have accepted a duty to secure accommodation under part 7 

of the Housing Act 1996 and they have the following additional needs: 
- Long-term health conditions that are unlikely to improve as assessed by the Housing 

Allocations Panel. 

Page 44



 
 

21 
 

- Households where there is a need to place them in Gravesham due to Child Protection 
Plans under Children Act 1989. 

- Households with children who have an Educational Health and Care Plan.    
- Applicants who are unable to work as they are providing care for friends and family, and 

are in receipt of carer’s allowance.  
● Applicants living in supported housing schemes within the borough (or temporarily displaced to 

a supported housing scheme in another borough) who have been assessed as ready to move 
on into independent living. 

● Where the Private Sector Housing Team have assessed that there are one or more Category 1 
hazards (as assessed under the Housing Health and Safety Rating Scheme) which are having 
a negative impact on the medical, disability or welfare needs of a member of the household 
and remedial action is considered unreasonable or impractical for cost or other reasons. 

● Households that need to move because they will suffer from a serious physical or medical 
illness as a result of their present housing circumstances.    

● Tenants occupying HM Forces service family accommodation who are threatened with 
homelessness because they have been served with a valid notice to vacate their tenancy 
(usually at least three months). 

 
Band C – Priority.  

 

Applicants in Band C can expect to wait a long time to be rehoused.  They may wish to look at other 
housing options to resolve their housing difficulties. 
 

● Homeless applicants where we have accepted a duty to secure accommodation under part 7 
of the Housing Act 1996, that are residing in temporary accommodation but who are not 
assessed as having Band B priority.    

● Verified rough sleepers who have a local connection to Gravesham.  
● Overcrowding – applicants needing at least one more bedroom than their current home.  
● Households where one or more members are awarded a priority on medical, disability or 

welfare grounds as the current housing conditions are having a negative impact on the 
medical, disability or welfare needs of a member of the household. 

● Households that need to move because they will suffer from a physical or mental illness as a 
result of their present housing circumstances, albeit one that is not assessed as serious 
enough to be included in Band B.   

 
Band D – Needing older person’s (sheltered or extra care) housing or low priority. 
 

Applicants in Band D can expect to wait a very long time to be rehoused, unless they are applying 
for older person’s accommodation. They may wish to look at other housing options to resolve their 
housing difficulties. 
 
● Applicants assessed as needing sheltered accommodation who are not currently residing in 

sheltered accommodation. 
● Homeless applicants where we do not owe a duty to secure accommodation, such as: 

- non-priority homeless households; or 
- households assessed as having become homeless intentionally; or 
- those who are of no fixed abode, including those staying or “sofa surfing” with relatives or 

friends, or living in a garage, shed, outbuilding, car or tent; or 
- where we have a duty to relieve homelessness 

 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Services Committee 

Date: 04 February 2021

Reporting officer: Jody Bulman, Service Manager (Housing Landlord Services) 

Subject: Housing Ombudsman Comlaint Handling Code

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform the Housing Cabinet Committee of the introduction of the Housing Ombudsman 
Complaint Handling Code and the contents the Council's self-assessment form against the 
Code.

Recommendations:
1. For Housing Cabinet Committee to note the introduction and contents of  the Housing 

Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code and self-assessment form.

1. Introduction

1.1 The Housing Ombudsman published a new Complaint Handling Code in July 2020, 
setting out good practice that will allow landlords to respond to complaints effectively 
and fairly.

1.2 The Ombudsman’s Complaint Handling Code promotes the progressive use of 
complaints, providing a high-level framework to support effective handling and 
prevention alongside learning and development. 

1.3 The Code is also intended to create a positive complaint handling culture amongst 
both staff and residents and move landlords away from perceiving complaints as 
negative feedback.

1.4 The Code also allows the Ombudsman to issue a complaint handling failure order 
where a landlord is failing to comply with its membership obligations of the Scheme 
and/ or Code.  Where the Ombudsman becomes aware of a landlord that is not 
dealing with complaints in accordance with the obligations of membership, the 
Ombudsman will notify the landlord of those concerns and give them the opportunity 
to put things right.

1.5 Failures under the Scheme and Code which would result in a complaint handling 
failure order include, but are not limited to:

1.5.1 non-compliance with the Complaint Handling Code 

Page 47 Agenda Item 7



2

1.5.2 failure to accept a formal complaint in a timely manner or to exclude a 
complaint from the complaints process without good reason 

1.5.3 inaccessible complaints process and procedure or unreasonable 
restrictions as to how a complaint can be made.

1.5.4 not managing complaints from residents in accordance with the complaints 
policy 

1.5.5 failure to progress a complaint through the complaints procedure 

1.5.6 failure to respond to a complaint within the set timescales without good 
reason 

1.5.7 failure to keep the resident informed and updated 

1.5.8 failure to notify the resident of the right to refer the complaint to the 
Ombudsman 

1.5.9 failure to provide evidence to support investigation by the Ombudsman. 

1.6 From January 2021, each quarter the Ombudsman will publish the total number of 
complaint handling failure orders issued, the names of the landlords and reasons for 
the orders.  This information will also be shared with the Regulator of Social Housing.

2. Self- Assessment Form

2.1 The Ombudsman expects landlords to carry out a regular self-assessment against the 
Code and take appropriate action to ensure their complaint handling is in line with the 
Code.  The initial self-assessment needed to be completed by 31 December 2020 and 
then kept under regular review. 

2.2 Once the self- assessment form had been completed the Ombudsman expects 
landlords to report the outcome of their self-assessment to their elected members and 
publish it to residents. 

2.3 In order to meet some of the requirements of the Code, it has been necessary for the 
Service Manager (Town Centre and Cultural Services) to make some minor 
amendments to the Council’s Corporate Complaints Policy.  

2.3.1 A complaint about an issue older than 12 months or that has already been 
investigated and where no fresh evidence is provided will not be 
considered.

2.3.2 Social Media has been included within the accepted method of 
complaining.

2.3.3 Emphasising that a complainant can raise their complaint through a 
representative at all stages.

2.3.4 Making it clearer how a tenant can contact the Ombudsman and the 
timescales involved.

2.4 A copy of the Council’s self-assessment form can be found at Appendix 2 and is now 
published on the Council’s website.

Page 48



3

3. Improving Complaint Handling in the Future

3.1 Whilst undertaking the self-assessment against the Code, it has been recognised by 
the senior managers within Housing, that the new Code is an excellent document 
which will help support officers in dealing with complaints and feed in to the Tenant 
Engagement Strategy.  It has also been noted that there are a number of services that 
the Housing Ombudsman provide as part of the Council’s membership that are not 
being utilised, such as early intervention support, which would greatly benefit the 
service.  This will be taken forward in the new year.

3.2 The Social Housing White Paper was recently published on 17 November 2020 by the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government.  The white paper makes 
seven key promises to tenants in social housing, some of which focus on an improved 
complaints process and the revised Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code 
fulfils this promise. 

3.3 In addition to this, in July 2020 the government published a draft building safety bill, 
with measures to give tenants a stronger voice over safety issues.  The draft bill 
proposes speeding up access to the Ombudsman by removing the need for residents 
to go through a ‘designated person’ or wait eight weeks before approaching the 
Ombudsman directly, and again the changes made to complaint handling will help to 
address this. 

3.4 Therefore it will mean that the Corporate Complaints Policy will need to be kept under 
regular review in the next 12 months to ensure that the necessary changes are made.

4. Background Papers

4.1 None

Page 49



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
There are no negative implications 

Legal There are no legal implications

Finance and Value 
for Money 

N/A

Risk Assessment N/A

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No.

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 People 
Provide A Proactive, Supportive & Financially Efficient Housing Service: high 
quality tenant management experienced through a service making full use of its 
assets.
Put our customers first

Climate Change N/A 

Crime and Disorder N/A

Page 50

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

Digital and website 
implications

The self-assessment form will be published on the Council's website

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code:
Self-assessment form

Compliance with the Complaint Handling Code Comments

1 Definition of a complaint Yes No
A Does the complaints process use the following definition of a 

complaint? 

An expression of dissatisfaction, however made, about the standard of 
service, actions or lack of action by the organisation, its own staff, or 
those acting on its behalf, affecting an individual resident or group of 
residents. 

✔

B Does the policy have exclusions where a complaint will not be 
considered?

✔

C Are these exclusions reasonable and fair to residents?

Evidence relied upon:

✔ The complaints process is on the Council’s 
web pages and has exclusions where a 
complaint will not be considered, these 
exclusions are reasonable and fair to residents 
and take into account other existing processes.  
They are also in line with the Complaint 
Handling Code

2 Accessibility
Are multiple accessibility routes available for residents to make a 
complaint?

✔ Yes, including in person or via a 
representative, in writing via email, letter social 
media and the website.

P
age 53



2

Is the complaints policy and procedure available online? ✔
Do we have a reasonable adjustments policy? ✔ Accessibility for all Policy
Do we regularly advise residents about our complaints process? ✔ Information regarding the Council’s Complaints 

Process can be found on our website and hard 
copy at the Civic Centre.  However further 
work will be undertaken to review how we can 
increase promotion amongst residents on both 
compliments and complaints. Specifically for 
housing, this will include articles in a quarterly 
tenant publication. 

3 Complaints team and process
Is there a complaint officer or equivalent in post? ✔ The Housing Management Team have taken 

on the Complaint Officer role.
Does the complaint officer have autonomy to resolve complaints? ✔
Does the complaint officer have authority to compel engagement from 
other departments to resolve disputes?

✔

If there is a third stage to the complaints procedure are residents 
involved in the decision making?

✔ A third stage is currently included within the 
policy to ensure the service had the 
opportunity to review and put the matter right. 
The third stage of a complaint is dealt with by 
the Chief Executive Officer. 
Consideration will be given to how we can 
include tenants in the complaints process and 
whether a ‘Tenant Panel’ could operate as the 
Designated Person should a tenant wish to 
refer the complaint to the Housing 
Ombudsman.

Is any third stage optional for residents?  ✔
Does the final stage response set out residents’ right to refer the matter 
to the Housing Ombudsman Service?

✔

Do we keep a record of complaint correspondence including 
correspondence from the resident?

✔

At what stage are most complaints resolved? Stage 1

P
age 54



3

4 Communication
Are residents kept informed and updated during the complaints 
process?

✔ Residents are contacted initially to discuss 
their complaint and are then kept in contact 
during the duration of the complaint until the 
outcome has been determined. The resident is 
then written to formally with the outcome of the 
complaint and the options for taking this 
further, if dissatisfied. 

Are residents informed of the landlord’s position and given a chance to 
respond and challenge any area of dispute before the final decision?

✔ The resident is written to formally with the 
outcome of the complaint at each and the 
options for taking this further, if dissatisfied.  As 
part of reviewing the self-assessment form, 
work will be undertaken in how we can 
increase the resident’s involvement as part of 
resolving a complaint.

Are all complaints acknowledged and logged within five days? ✔
Are residents advised of how to escalate at the end of each stage? ✔
What proportion of complaints are resolved at stage one? 89% of complaints were resolved at stage one.
What proportion of complaints are resolved at stage two? 11% of complaints were dealt with at stage 2
What proportion of complaint responses are sent within Code 
timescales?

 Stage one
Stage one (with extension)

 Stage two
Stage two (with extension)

 Stage one -64%
Stage one (with extension) -16%

 Stage two- 63%
Stage two (with extension)- 17%

Where timescales have been extended did we have good reason? ✔
Where timescales have been extended did we keep the resident 
informed?

✔

P
age 55



4

What proportion of complaints do we resolve to residents’ satisfaction Currently not applicable as not specifically 
measured but consideration will be given to 
introducing this going forward.

5 Cooperation with Housing Ombudsman Service
Were all requests for evidence responded to within 15 days? ✔
Where the timescale was extended did we keep the Ombudsman 
informed?

✔

6 Fairness in complaint handling
Are residents able to complain via a representative throughout? ✔ Covered within policy however greater 

promotion of this will be made via the usual 
resident communication channels.

If advice was given, was this accurate and easy to understand? N/A
How many cases did we refuse to escalate? 

What was the reason for the refusal?

None

N/A

Did we explain our decision to the resident? N/A
7 Outcomes and remedies

Where something has gone wrong are we taking appropriate steps to 
put things right?

✔

8 Continuous learning and improvement 
What improvements have we made as a result of learning from 
complaints?

Individual staff training needs and 
implementation.

Introduction of clear transparent policies, for 
example, Repairs & Maintenance Policy.

Lessons learned database in use and regularly 
team meetings to discuss complaints.

Performance monitoring of complaints.

P
age 56



5

Workflows improved where issues have been 
identified.

How do we share these lessons with:

a) residents?

b) the board/governing body?

c) In the Annual Report?

✔ Going forward these lessons will be reported to 
the Housing Committee on a yearly basis and 
to residents via the Council’s website and Your 
Home publication.

Has the Code made a difference to how we respond to complaints? ✔

What changes have we made? 

The Code has led to a review of the Complaints Policy/ Procedure and 
will also help shape how we can improve the policy and process going 
forward to assist our residents going forward.

The Social Housing White Paper was 
published on 17 November 2020 by the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government.  The white paper makes seven 
key promises to tenants in social housing, 
some of which focus on an improved 
complaints process. 

The Code has led to a review of the 
Complaints Policy/ Procedure and will also 
now help shape how we can improve going 
forward and assist with meeting the 
commitment of the white paper.

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Services Committee

Date: 04 February 2021

Reporting officer: Nicole Arthur, Service Delivery Manager (Housing Repairs) 

Subject: Estate Management Policy

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Housing Cabinet Committee of the proposed Estate Management Policy as set out 
in Appendix 2 of this report 

Recommendations:
1. For Housing Cabinet Committee to support the implementation of the Estate 

Management Policy. 

1. Introduction

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council aims to ensure its communal areas and estates are 
well maintained, safe, attractive places that people can enjoy and take pride in.

1.2 Estate Management is a vital part of housing management and a particularly 
important service from a resident’s viewpoint.  The Chartered Institute of Housing 
uses the term in its widest sense to refer to property management and services to 
tenants and leaseholders (residents) which aim to enable them to have quiet 
enjoyment of their homes and a decent, safe and secure environment.

1.3 Estate Management incorporates a number of services provided by the Council 
such as caretaking, grounds maintenance, graffiti removal, health and safety 
compliance and waste collection.

1.4 A clean and tidy estate means a lot to residents and because of this it is important 
to have clear standards as to what they can expect. The Council is committed to 
making sure residents have estates that are clean and cared for, safe and secure 
and in a good state of repair.

2. Current Situation

2.1 The responsibility of the Caretaking Service transferred to the Service Delivery 
Manager (Housing Repairs) in January 2020.  It quickly became apparent that 
there were a number of inconsistencies across the estate sites in terms of the 

Page 59 Agenda Item 8



2

frequency and standard of service that was being delivered, particularly in relation 
to caretaking.  This created confusion for staff which impacted on their morale and 
also how residents felt about the estates, causing complaints.

2.2 To deal with these issues an Estate Management Policy has been developed to 
ensure that standards on council managed estates become more focused and 
transparent and the following objectives are met:

2.2.1 Develop a pro-active approach to the management of our properties, 
estates and neighbourhood. 

2.2.2 Manage the environment around our properties and communal areas 
effectively.

2.2.3 Ensure that all residents are aware of their respective responsibilities. 

2.2.4 Set appropriate estate management standards and to measure 
performance and tenant satisfaction. 

2.2.5 Deliver a service which is proactive, responsive and provides excellent 
value for money.

2.3 In order to develop the policy it was necessary to have input from all of the 
departments who deliver services on the estates, ensuring a joined up approach.

2.4 A review of complaints, enquiries and service charge challenges have also been 
reviewed as part of the process to ensure the policy is reflective of the service we 
wish to provide.

A copy of the policy can be found at Appendix 2.

3. Rate My Estate Guide

3.1 In order to provide a consistent monitoring framework for the standard of the 
estates and for the caretakers to be performance managed, the Rate My Estate 
Guide has been developed.  A copy of which can be found at Appendix 2 within 
the policy.

3.2 The guide aims to make caretaking standards on council-managed estates more 
focused and transparent.  To do this, the guide describes caretaking standards 
using a combination of text and visuals.  These descriptions form a clear 
framework, against which caretaking standards can be fairly assessed and any 
area of improvement can be managed.

3.3 Residents will also be encouraged to ‘Rate Their Estate’ using the guide which will 
be made available on the website, residents will also be encouraged to contribute 
their views on how their estate can be made great.

3.4 The Service Manager (Landlord Services) has also contributed to the Estate 
Management Policy.  In addition to the monthly caretaking inspections, each 
estate will receive an estate inspection carried out by the Housing Officer.  The 
frequency of the inspection will be dependent on the number of properties on the 
estate and will have a real focus on neglected homes, overgrown gardens and 
anti-social behaviour.

3.5 A copy of the inspection form can be found within the policy.

Page 60



3

4. Background Papers

4.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 61



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
Failure to implement the policy could mean that we fail to fulfill our responsbility as a Landlord, particularly in 
relation to health and safety issues that may put both the tenant and the structure of our property at risk    
 

Legal The policies are based on the Councils legal obligations as a landlord and tenancy 
conditions and ensure that obligations are clear and transparent

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The policies enable the sevrice to manage tenants expectations in regard to what 
work will be carried out as part of tenants service charges. 

Risk Assessment N/A

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No, the policies ensure that an equitable service is delivered to its residents.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
The policies ensures that an equitable service is delivered to its residents.

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan # 1 People 
Provide A Proactive, Supportive & Financially Efficient Housing Service: high 
quality tenant management experienced through a service making full use of its 
assets. 
Put Our Customers First: Implement a suite of quality and effective front line service

Climate Change N/A

Crime and Disorder The policies take a robust approach to damage on the estates and fly-tipping

Digital and website 
implications

The website will be updated to ensure there is clear information regarding Estate 
Management.

Page 62

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council

Estate Management Policy 2021

Document Control

Responsible Department DSO Building Management/ Landlord Services
Author Service Delivery Manager (Housing Repairs)
Consultation

Revision History

Date Previous Description of Revision
Version

Page 65



Index

1. Introduction

2. Aims and Objectives of the Policy

3. The Council’s Commitment

4. The Caretaking Service 

5. Resident Responsibilities

6. Estate Inspections- Rate My Estate

7. Estate Inspections- Housing Officers

8. Fire Safety

9. Gravesham Aware Stickers

10. Gardens and Grounds Maintenance

11. Bulky and Personal items

12. Refuse Disposal and Litter

13. Infestations

14. Flytipping

15. Removal of Abandoned Vehicles

16. Car Parks

17. Tenant Involvement and Monitoring

18. Equality and Diversity

Page 66



1. Introduction

Gravesham Borough Council aims to ensure its communal areas and estates are well 
maintained, safe, attractive places that people can enjoy and take pride in (through 
the delivery of effective estate management).

Estate Management is a vital part of housing management and a particularly 
important service from a resident’s viewpoint.  The Chartered Institute of Housing 
uses the term in its widest sense to refer to property management and services to 
tenants and leaseholders (residents) which aim to enable them to have quiet 
enjoyment of their homes and a decent, safe and secure environment.

Estate Management therefore incorporates activities such as (but not exclusively):
 Caretaking
 Communal area maintenance
 Communal area cleaning
 Grounds maintenance
 Waste collection
 Removal of abandoned vehicles
 Removal of graffiti 
 Management of garages, sheds and other estate buildings
 Estate inspections
 Dog fouling
 Infestations
 General aesthetics of the area
 Health and safety controls

2. Aims and Objectives of the Policy

The overall aim of Gravesham Borough Council’s Estate Management Policy is to 
ensure services are provided to residents to enable them to have a quiet enjoyment of 
their homes in a safe and secure environment that they can take pride in.

The policy aims to ensure that standards on council managed estates become more 
focused and transparent.

The specific objectives of the Estate Management Policy are:
 Develop a pro-active approach to the management of our properties, estates 

and neighbourhood.
 Manage the environment around our properties and communal areas 

effectively.
 Ensure that all residents are aware of their respective responsibilities.
 Set appropriate estate management standards and to measure performance 

and tenant satisfaction.
 Deliver a service which is proactive, responsive and provides excellent value 

for money.

Page 67



3. The Council’s Commitment

A clean and tidy estate means a lot to residents and because of this it is important to 
have clear standards as to what they can expect. The Council is committed to making 
sure residents have estates that are clean and cared for, safe and secure and in a 
good state of repair.

To meet the objectives the Council will:

Clean and cared for
The estate will have regular cleaning and prompt clearance of rubbish, graffiti and fly 
tipping.  To create an environment where residents have a strong sense of ownership 
over their estates, with high levels of respect for one another.

Safe & Secure
The estate will have very high standards of fire safety, where any anti-social behavior 
is tackled, where estates are well lit, and where matters arising from health and safety 
issued are dealt with promptly

Good state of repair
Blocks will be maintained and repaired within the promised timescales.  With 
residents being able to report and book a ‘caretaker’ job in the same way they would a 
repair.

4. The Caretaking Service

Caretakers are responsible for ensuring that all communal areas on council-managed 
estates are maintained and cleaned to an acceptable standard and ensure this by:

 Inspect and sweep all play areas
 Sweep and mop shared halls, porches, landings and stairs, and remove any 

graffiti or other marks
 Clean the inside windows on all shared doors, landings and staircases
 Clean, sweep and mop all lift floors, walls and doors inside and outside where 

possible, and remove any graffiti
 Check and clear blocked rubbish chutes
 Sweep all estate paths and parking areas
 Check grassed and shrubbed areas, removing litter and leaves
 Check estate lighting, change bulbs and clean low level light shades as 

necessary, and report faults to the Repairs Team
 Remove large items of rubbish from our estates where possible, or report them to 

the Waste Team
 Make sure that all of our caretakers are trained to British Institute of Cleaning 

Science (BICS) standards
 Train all our caretakers in how to carry out their duties safely and effectively
 Provide our caretakers with the proper tools, equipment and materials to carry out 

their duties to a high standard
 Arrange inspections every month to monitor and record the standards of service 

our caretakers provide
 Produce information about the number of inspections we have completed and the 

standards achieved, along with our resident’s comments.

Page 68



            If we do not meet our commitments, the council will:
 Give our residents the relevant name and contact details if they want to comment 

on any areas of our estate service that they feel we are not meeting
 Reply to any comments as soon as possible, and bring our service back up to the 

expected standard within five working days where possible
 Investigate all complaints and reply in writing within 10 working days. 
 Regularly review our systems and practices to make sure they meet our customers’ needs.

The Council will implement detailed procedures and agreed practices uniformly across the 
service and will ensure that staff are given the necessary training to deliver estate management 
services.

       
      A copy of the schedule of work including frequency can be found at Appendix 1.

5. Resident Responsibilities

To achieve consistently high standards on an estate, it is essential that there is close 
co-operation between residents and the Council.

Residents have their own part to play in ensuring the estate is kept at its best and 
have to comply with their responsibilities for maintaining in good order their 
surrounding environment, as well as their own individual property. In doing so, 
residents must respect the rights of their neighbours and surrounding community, as 
laid down in their tenancy agreement.  

In simple terms residents must help keep communal areas clean and well maintained 
though appropriate use of bins and following procedures for bulk term collection; 
responsible dog ownership; not causing damage to, or littering in, communal areas 
and being a good neighbour.

6. Estate Inspections – Rate My Estate

To ensure that council-managed properties and estates are kept clean and in good 
condition, inspections are carried out once a month to assess caretaking standards. 
These are carried out by nominated officers within the service and take into account 
all areas within a block or within a specified inspection area. The scoring system is 
based on a traffic light system, green is the standard we aim for, amber means 
satisfactory and red means poor.

The Rate My Estate guide (Appendix 2) describes caretaking standards using a 
combination of text and visuals. These descriptions form a clear framework, against 
which caretaking standards can be fairly assessed and any area of improvement can 
be managed.

The traffic light system allows the Council to easily monitor where areas of 
improvement are required and put plans in place to improve any areas falling below 
standard.  Below outlines what the grading means in general sense:

All clear – the standard we aim for. It should look like this after the area has 
been cleaned

Green An area with a score of green will not be completely free of dirt, litter and 
detritus. However, the extent to which it is present is unlikely to be noticed by 
most people walking through or past the area or be regarded as having a 
significant adverse effect on the quality of the local environment.

We aim that no area should fall below this standard in between cleaning cycles. 
An area graded green will:
• look clean and in good condition
• have few signs of litter, detritus or visible removable marks and stains

Page 69



• look like cleaning is taking place regularly

Satisfactory Condition
Amber An amber area will have only a small amount of dirt, marks, stains, litter or 

detritus present to such an extent that it may be noticeable to most people 
passing through the area.
 
An area amber area will:
• have some visible marks and signs of litter and detritus
• look like cleaning has taken place but maybe could do with an extra clean
• look like it requires some attention to bring it up to a ‘green’ standard

Red
Poor Condition

A red area typically has marks, stains, litter, detritus and dirt present to such an 
extent that it is highly visible and has a serious negative impact on the surrounding 
environment.

The build-up may possibly present a health and safety issue. This grade also 
applies to some tasks where a fundamental component of the task has visibly not 
been completed, e.g. where a security door has been left open or unsecured. An 
area graded red will:
• display no sign that cleaning is/has taken place
• have excessive rubbish/ fouling/ marks and stains; and/or
• present health and safety hazards, such as broken glass, faeces, needles or 
other sharp objects

7. Estate Inspections – Housing Officer
In addition to the monthly caretaking inspections, each estate will receive an estate 
inspection carried out by the Housing Officer. An estate inspection is an inspection of 
the exterior and communal parts, facilities and grounds of an estate comprising blocks 
of flats or a mixture of flats and houses built on land owned and managed by 
Gravesham Borough Council. The purpose of these inspections is to review the 
management of the whole estate in line with the elements set out within this policy. 
These include but are not limited to the following:

 Health and Safety Issues
 Tenancy Issues – neglected homes and gardens
 Condition of hard landscaping (ie. fencing, walls and pavements)
 Condition of soft landscaping (ie. trees, grass, shrubs)
 Litter and flytipping
 Dog fouling
 Vandalism
 Graffiti
 Hot spots for anti-social behaviour (ASB)
 Pest control
 Illegally parked vehicles 
 Abandoned vehicles
 Highway Maintenance and street lighting

Estate inspection frequency will be determined by Gravesham Borough Council and 
will either be monthly, bi-monthly or quarterly depending on the size of your estate. 
The frequency of estate inspections is as follows:

Page 70



Size of Estate Frequency of Inspections
Less than 20 properties Quarterly
Between 20 – 50 properties Bi-monthly
Over 50 properties Monthly

 If multiple problems with tenancy, repair, grounds maintenance or other 
neighbourhood issues are identified during the inspections Gravesham Borough 
Council reserves the right to increase the inspections in order to effectively manage 
and monitor the issues. This may mean that inspections take place weekly or even 
daily if required. Frequency of inspections may change in line with problems identified 
or other reasons as determined by Gravesham Borough Council.

A copy of the Estate Inspection Report template can be found in Appendix 3.

8. Fire Safety

The Council will arrange for the required Fire Risk Assessments to be carried out by a 
competent person (Fire Risk Assessor). Assessments will be provided for all 
communal areas and shared facilities within blocks and sheltered housing.

All communal fire alarm systems within high-rise are monitored 24/7 by the Council’s 
alarm monitoring service provider who will contact the Duty Caretaker and/or the Fire 
& Rescue Services in the event of an activation. All fire alarm activations will be 
investigated and this will be carried out by the Police in cases of suspected arson.

Servicing and maintenance of communal alarm systems are undertaken by the 
council’s specialist fire alarm contractor; six monthly for Low-Rise and Sheltered 
Housing, and quarterly for High-Rise. Fire alarms are also tested weekly by 
Caretakers and Sheltered Scheme officers.

Residents are required to:

 Ensure that all means of egress are not obstructed by storing refuse, mobility 
scooters, bicycles or other possessions in communal areas.

 Ensure fire doors are never propped open or designated fire exits obstructed.
 Report all damage to their flat entrance door, including defective self-closing 

devices, letter boxes, hinges and smoke seals.
 Ensure fire detection equipment, emergency lighting, alarms and signage 

provided is not interfered with.
 Ensure combustible gas canisters are not stored on the premises

9. Gravesham Aware Stickers

When a member of staff has identified an issue on an estate but is unable to 
immediately rectify it, they will mark it with a ‘Gravesham Aware’ sticker. This lets 
Residents know that there has been a member of staff on site and that the issue will 
be addressed soon. These have the name and contact details of the officer 
addressing the situation.

10. Gardens and Grounds Maintenance

The Council will ensure that work is undertaken on a routine basis to ensure that 
communal grounds on housing estates are maintained to a good standard. Grounds 
maintenance will take place between March and October weather permitting with the 
inclusion of strimming, shrub pruning, weed control, litter picking and footpath 
clearance.

Page 71



 Communal grass will be cut 8 times each year between the months of March 
and November – this approximates to 1 cut a month during the growing 
season.  This operation will include a litter pick, grass cut, strim round the 
obstacles and clearance of cut grass from paths and footways.

 All communal shrubbed areas will be cut back and cleared of litter once a year 
during the winter months.  During the spring and summer months, shrubs will 
be pruned back off paths and below windows on an ad-hoc basis as required. 

 Weed killing /application of herbicide will be kept to a minimum and only used 
when necessary.  When herbicide is used, weeds are spot treated rather than 
blanket sprayed to reduce the amount of glyphosate used.

 Tree maintenance works will be carried out as required generally during the 
winter months outside of the bird nesting season.  Tree works that can’t be 
done in-house will be sub-contracted out although works will only take place if 
trees are dead, dying, diseased or dangerous.

Communal gardens are for the enjoyment of all residents who have a right to access 
these. There must be no fences, barriers, locks or obstructions put in communal 
gardens that stop residents accessing the area.  Residents must not use the 
communal gardens for their own use (i.e. – planting shrubs and beds) unless 
agreement is given in writing.

Play areas owned by the Council will be maintained and regularly inspected to ensure 
they are safe to use and this will consist of:

 A weekly inspection to check and remove litter and dangerous items etc. This 
involves an examination of equipment's basic condition, especially faults due 
to recent vandalism etc. This is recorded by way of a diary note made by the 
Park Rangers who carry out these checks.

 A quarterly Operational Inspection - this examines in more detail at the 
equipment, identifying any issues resulting from wear or vandalism.  This is 
carried out by our own in-house RPII (Register of Play Inspectors 
International) qualified operational inspectors.

 An annual Independent Inspection by an RPII accredited inspector.  This is a 
thorough independent check of all the equipment and it is assessed in 
accordance with BS EN 1176, 2008 and November 2017.

From time to time assessments will take place to establish the demand of the play 
areas; if the result of any assessment identifies a redundant play area, the Council will 
consult with the affected residents and take the appropriate action.

11. Bulky and personal items
We want our estates to be safe and items within communal areas can cause both fire 
hazards and restrict escape routes.

Communal areas must be kept free of bulky items and nothing should be stored in 
communal areas, this includes cupboards with shared access. The Council retains the 
right to remove such items as detailed in items in a communal area. Any items left in 

Page 72



internal or external communal areas that are damaged or causing a fire/health & 
safety risk will be removed immediately and re-charges made where applicable.

12. Refuse Disposal and Litter

The Council will ensure that appropriate and well-sited facilities are provided for 
refuse disposal and recycling.

Tenants will be advised at the start of their tenancy of arrangements and appropriate 
days for the collection of refuse and recycling.  

All residents are responsible for ensuring that their refuse and recyclable material is 
disposed of safely and tidily and to comply with collection arrangements.

13. Infestations

The Council aims to ensure all properties in its ownership are free of vermin, pest and 
insect infestation.  Residents have a responsibility to report all infestation of a property 
to the Housing Service, who will advise on how it will be dealt with.

Where an infestation can be directly attributed to someone’s living conditions or habits 
the Housing Service will advise the resident on how best to rectify the situation and 
ensure it doesn’t re-occur.  The Housing Service will further advise that they are 
responsible for the cost of pest control. 

14. Fly-tipping

Fly-tipping is a serious criminal offence, which can have a harmful effect on the 
community.

Fly- tipping is the illegal dumping of waste in areas which are not designated for 
rubbish collection.  From pavements to corridors, fly-tipping can include anything from 
a bag of rubbish, to bulky unwanted or broken household items and even waste 
dumped from vehicles on to road areas.

The Council will endeavor to remove fly tipping within 7 working days.  Action taken to 
remove any hazardous waste will be more immediate. 
 
The Housing Service will not tolerate fly-tipping on the estates and will work together 
with Community Safety to detect problems as they arise, share information and will 
prosecute where a case can be proven.

15. Removal of Abandoned Vehicles

An abandoned vehicle is a vehicle which doesn’t have a known owner.  If a vehicle is 
road legal, is parked on the public highway and the owner tells us that it’s not 
abandoned, we have no power to remove this vehicle. 

We will only investigate a vehicle as abandoned when it meets certain criteria. An 
officer will inspect the vehicle within 5 working days and if deemed as abandoned, 
depending on its condition, we can issue three types of notices of removal: 

 24 hour notice
 7 day notice
 15 day notice

Page 73



These notices will give the owner of the vehicle the specified period of time to remove 
it. If it’s not removed by the expiry date/time of the notice the vehicle will be removed. 

16. Car Parks 

Car parks are designed for residents’ use only. Where there is provision then visitors’ 
spaces will be allowed. All vehicles parking within our car park must have current valid 
road tax and be roadworthy. Where practical, controlled car parking schemes will be 
introduced across estates to minimise non-resident parking.

The parking of lorries is not permitted without first obtaining written permission from 
the Council.

17. Tenant Involvement and Monitoring

The Council will work closely with residents to improve the look, feel and living 
experience of our estates.

The Council will note and act upon problems and issue through actively listening to 
resident’s complaints and concerns about issues that affect the quality of life locally.  

Tenants will be invited to attend the estate inspections carried out by their Housing 
Officers. The inspection dates will be available on the Council’s website and copies of 
the Estate Inspection will also be available upon request.

The Council will monitor the following:
 Level of resident satisfaction with the estate (identified by periodic resident 

surveys)
 Number of estate management related complaints each year and the reasons 

behind the complaint.
 Annual expenditure on repairs and maintenance arising from criminal damage 

on each estate.
 Common themes arising from Rate My Estate inspections.

18. Equality and Diversity
This policy has been fully assessed and confirms that the council’s approach to Estate 
Management does not adversely affect any individual or group.

 

Page 74



Appendix 1 Caretaking Task-Frequency Schedule

Task Frequency Inspection sheet 
reference number

Sweep all car parks/parking areas Weekly CK1

Sweep all pathways and paved areas
Sweep and clean roadways

Weekly CK2

Inspect play areas and seating areas for 
hazards such as broken glass, sharps and 
faulty or damaged equipment and sweep

Weekly CK3

Remove litter and leaves from grass areas 
and shrub beds

Daily CK4

Report and/or remove graffiti from 
communal areas

Daily CK5

Check security of tank rooms Daily CK6

Check any faults with security of door-
entry systems and other secure areas

Daily CK7

Check chutes for blockages clear/report as 
necessary

Daily CK8

Wash external parts of hopper and 
surrounding wall and flooring

Weekly CK9

Clean all communal windows on 
doors/landings and staircases, internal 
and low level external faces only

Monthly CK10

Wash all ledges including internal window 
sills

Daily CK11

Check estate lighting replacing 
bulbs/tubes where necessary wipe clean 
shade and fitting before replacing

Weekly CK12

Clean/dust light fitting external surfaces 
including shades/covers

Weekly CK13

Sweep and wash stairs, landings Daily CK14

Sweep and wash entrance halls, porch 
ways and corridors

Daily CK15

Clean handrails and ledges and banister 
rails

Weekly CK16

Check security of roof access Daily CK17

Sweep and wash lift floors and where 
necessary lower parts of walls

Daily CK18

Clean lift doors (internal). Clean lift car 
door panels and frames on all floors 
(external)

Weekly CK19

Page 75



Remove scuffmarks and all other marks 
on doors landings and staircases  and 
internal walls(internal and low level 
external surfaces only) 

Weekly CK20

Clean/tidy dust chutes and bin chambers Daily CK21

Sweep and wash bin chambers with 
disinfectant 

Monthly CK22

Remove lumber from all internal and 
external areas to a safe storage point as 
necessary

Daily CK23

Page 76



Rate My Estate Guide
Introduction
This guide has been produced to help Gravesham Borough Council provide improved estates 
and a better quality caretaking service for those who live there. The guide aims to make 
caretaking standards on council-managed estates more focused and transparent. To do this, 
the guide describes caretaking standards using a combination of text and visuals. These 
descriptions form a clear framework, against which caretaking standards can be fairly 
assessed and any area of improvement can be managed.

The guide is aimed at residents and council employees, for instance caretakers and housing 
officers.

Caretaking Inspections

To ensure that council-managed properties and estates are kept clean and in good condition 
inspections are carried out once a month to assess caretaking standards. These are carried 
out by nominated officers within the service and take into account all areas within a block or 
within a specified inspection area. The scoring system is a traffic light RAG rating based 
system with green being good and red poor.

Because there are differences across all council-managed properties in terms of the fabric of 
the buildings and green space outside, the photographic examples given are not absolute 
and should only be used as an example of what each score may look like.

The manual provides a photo to represent each score for each caretaking task. There is also 
a text description of each score per task alongside this. 

Making an accurate assessment of caretaking standards
When making an assessment of caretaking standards there are a number of factors that 
should be considered in order for the assessment to be fair and accurate.

The condition of the building
It is important to bear in mind the condition of the building when making an assessment of 
caretaking standards. Factors to consider include:

 ingrained dirt, stains or burn marks
 the general wear and tear of the building and furnishings
 areas that require major repair work
 irreparable damage

These may be beyond the control of the caretaker and the remit of their work. As such these 
factors should be taken into account when making assessments of cleanliness.

Unforeseen circumstances
There are sometimes unforeseen circumstances that the cleaning frequency plan cannot 
legislate for, such as:

 extreme weather conditions
 acts of anti-social behaviour, including graffiti
 the adverse effects of Planned Works programmes or other building work

These instances may have an adverse effect on the cleanliness and/or quality of an area and 
mean that scores fall below a certain grade. We will always act to rectify such a situation, but 
the occurrence may be something that we cannot prevent.

Page 77



The caretaking grading system explained
The council use a traffic light RAG rating scoring system to rate caretaking standards. This 
page aims to explain what these scores mean in a general sense. Within this guide 
Inspections grades are awarded as a reflection of the block as a whole, rather than a specific 
area within any block or inspected area.

Good standard
G
R
E
E
N

An area graded green will not be completely free of dirt, litter and detritus. 
However, the extent to which it is present is unlikely to be noticed by most people 
walking through or past the area or be regarded as having a significant adverse 
effect on the quality of the local environment.

We aim that no area should fall below this standard in between cleaning cycles. An 
area graded green will:
• look clean and in good condition
• have few signs of litter, detritus or visible removable marks and stains
• look like cleaning is taking place regularly

Satisfactory condition
A
M
B
E
R

An area graded amber will have only a small amount of dirt, marks, stains, litter or 
detritus present to such an extent that it may be noticeable to most people passing 
through the area.
 
An area amber area will:
• have some visible marks and signs of litter and detritus
• look like cleaning has taken place but maybe could do with an extra clean
• look like it requires some attention to bring it up to a ‘green’ standard

Poor condition 

R
E
D

A red area typically has marks, stains, litter, detritus and dirt present to such an 
extent that it is highly visible and has a serious negative impact on the surrounding 
environment.

The build-up may possibly present a health and safety issue. This grade also 
applies to some tasks where a fundamental component of the task has visibly not 
been completed, e.g. where a security door has been left open or unsecured. An 
area graded red will:
• display no sign that cleaning is/has taken place
• have excessive rubbish/ fouling/ marks and stains; and/or
• present health and safety hazards, such as broken glass, faeces, needles or 
other sharp objects

Definitions of terms used in the guide

Detritus - Detritus comprises of dust, mud, soil, grit, gravel, stones, rotted leaf and vegetable 
residues and fragments of twigs, glass, plastic and other finely divided materials.

Detritus is not a factor when the area considered is a grass, soil or granular surface e.g. a 
grass play area or lawn.

Litter – this includes mainly synthetic materials, often associated with smoking, eating and
drinking, that are improperly discarded and left by residents or members of the public; or are 
spilt during waste management operations. Litter may also include putrid or clinical wastes, or 
faeces, e.g. dog or other animal faeces.

Page 78



Bulk – also referred to as ‘bulk refuse’ and ‘bulk items’, this relates to non-refuse items that 
have been disposed of on estates, e.g. fridges, wardrobes, pieces of wood. 

Graffiti – any informal or illegal marks, drawings or paintings that have been deliberately 
made by a person or persons on any physical element within the indoor or external 
environment.

Page 79



Parking Areas 

Task frequency- Weekly
Inspection sheet reference number- CK1

Description and aim of task- These areas should be swept and litter picked, including 
where the litter or detritus surrounds parked vehicles or other stationary objects.  Caretakers 
should report any abandoned vehicles or illegally parked vehicles e.g. those without a valid 
tax disk or valid parking permit.

G
R
E
E
N

    
Area is swept and predominantly free of litter and 
detritus
Any abandoned or illegally parked vehicles have
been reported 
Any bulk items have been reported with collection
arranged
No hazardous materials present

A
M
B
E
R

Area has noticeable build-up of litter and detritus; 
Any abandoned or illegally parked vehicles have
been reported to the relevant team
Any bulk items have been reported and collection
arranged
No hazardous materials present

R
E
D

Area has excessive build-up of litter and detritus
One or more abandoned or illegally parked
vehicles that have not been reported 
Bulk items not made safe and reported
Hazardous materials present

Page 80



Pathways, courtyards and hard-standing areas

Task frequency- Weekly
Inspection sheet reference no. – CK2

Description and aims of task
 These areas should be swept thoroughly and litter and weeds removed.
 Estate roads should be swept at least once a fortnight by an assigned mechanical 

sweeper and driver.
 All areas should be free of litter, detritus and hazardous items.
 Bulk refuse should either be removed or made safe, reported and with collection 

arranged

G
R
E
E
N

Area is clear or predominantly clear of litter, detritus 
weeds and leaves
Bulk items not present or have been made safe
with collection arranged
No hazardous items
Cleaning taking place as planned

A
M
B
E
R

Litter, detritus, weeds and leaves are noticeable,
including some accumulations
Some bulk items present
Not clear that cleaning is taking place as regularly as 
planned
No hazardous items

R
E
D

Excessive build-up of detritus, weeds and litter; and/or
Bulk refuse present that has not been removed,
or made safe and/or reported;
No evidence that cleaning has taken place as
regularly as planned
Hazardous items present

Play areas

Task frequency – Weekly
Inspection sheet reference no. – CK3

Page 81



Description and aims of task
 Area should be free of litter, detritus and bulk items.
 All play equipment should be free of defects and Health and Safety hazards or in the 

event of defects, cordoned off, made safe and reported.
 The area should be completely free of broken glass, needles and/or other hazardous 

items.

G
R
E
E
N

Area is clear or mainly of litter, detritus and bulk items
Play equipment is either in good working order or
has been cordoned off, made safe and reported 
No hazardous items
Very few leaves

A
M
B
E
R

                      Noticeable quantities of litter, detritus and bulk items
Play equipment is either in good working order or
has been cordoned off, made safe and reported 
No hazardous items
Some build-up of leaves

R
E
D

Excessive build-up of litter, detritus and leaves or bulk 
items
Defective play equipment that has not been dealt
with appropriately
Hazardous items e.g. broken glass or needles;
Excessive build- up of leaves

Grassed areas and shrubs

Task frequency – Daily
Inspection sheet reference no. – CK4

Page 82



Description and aims of task:
 These areas should be kept free of litter and refuse.
 Any bulk refuse left in these areas should be removed, made safe and arrangements 

made for collection.
 There should be no hazardous items present, e.g. broken glass or needles

G
R
E
E
N

    

Area is completely free or predominantly free of litter 
and refuse
Bulk refuse either not present or has been made
safe and is awaiting collection
No hazardous items

A
M
B
E
R

Build-up of litter and refuse is noticeable, but
would not be considered excessive
Bulk refuse either not present or has been made
safe and is awaiting collection
No hazardous items

R
E
D

Build-up or litter and refuse is excessive and
highly noticeable; and/or
Bulk refuse present that has not been made safe,
reported and is awaiting collection; and/or
Hazardous items e.g. broken glass or needles present

Graffiti 

Task frequency – Daily
Inspection sheet reference no. – CK5

Description and aims of task:

Page 83



 Offensive graffiti should be removed within 24 hours of it being reported or
being found by a member of staff.

 All other graffiti should be removed or covered within the same working week.
 In some instances graffiti can be painted over or washed/scrubbed off by the 

caretaker. In other instances the jet washer crew may be needed to remove it using 
pressure-washing equipment

G
R
E
E
N

There is no graffiti or minimal inoffensive graffiti visible 
in the area
There may be evidence of graffiti that has been
painted over or removed, but the graffiti itself is
not visible
No graffiti anywhere else in the inspected area

A
M
B
E
R

  
There may be many instances of graffiti in the
inspected area
However, the graffiti that is present is not offensive

R
E
D

There may be an excessive quantity of inoffensive
graffiti
Offensive graffiti, of any quantity, is a score of red

Chute hoppers

Task frequency – Daily/ Weekly
Inspection sheet reference no. – CK8/CK9

Description and aims of task:
 The external parts of the hopper should be cleaned and disinfected.

Page 84



 The surrounding wall and floor area should be cleaned, swept and washed.
 Chutes should be checked for blockages and cleared, or reported where necessary.
 Bulk items should not be left in chute rooms. In the event that bulk items are left in 

chute rooms, caretakers should remove, make safe and arrange for collection

G
R
E
E
N

Area has been washed and disinfected recently
and is relatively free of bad odours
Area is clear of any litter, detritus and refuse
Bulk items either not present, or have been made
safe and with collection arranged
No hazardous items

A
M
B
E
R

Looks like it could do with a further clean, stains on 
chute hopper or floor
Noticeable quantities of litter, detritus and refuse
Bulk items either not present, or have been made
safe and with collection arranged
No hazardous items

R
E
D

Area appears very unclean, there may be offensive 
odours.   
Multiple stains on chute hopper or floor Excessive 
quantities of litter, detritus or refuse
Bulk item(s) stored inappropriately or hazardous items
Hazardous items present

Windows

Task frequency – Daily/ Monthly
Inspection sheet reference no. – CK10/CK11

Description and aims of task:
 All internal windows and low external windows are cleaned once a month.
 All marks, dirt, cobwebs, stains and smears should be removed from the windows 

surface and from the window frames.

Page 85



G
R
E
E
N

   
Window is generally clean and clear, any marks
or smears are minor 
No or very few cobwebs
Minimal evidence of dirt, dust or detritus on window 
frames or ledges 

A
M
B
E
R

  
Window has noticeable marks and smears and/ or a few
cobwebs
Build-up of dirt, dust or detritus on window frames or 
ledges

R
E
D

Window displays excessive marks and smears, to
the extent that it reduces visibility
Excessive amount of cobwebs
Excessive build-up of dust, dirt or detritus on window 
frames or ledges 

Floors

Task frequency – Daily
Inspection sheet reference no. – CK15

Description and aims of task:
 The area should be swept and all litter, refuse, detritus and chewing gum should be 

removed so that area is completely clear.
 The floor should be washed to remove detritus, marks and stains to leave area 

looking clean and tidy.
 Bulky waste should be removed or if necessary made safe, reported and with 

collection arranged.

Page 86



 No Health and Safety hazards present e.g. needles, glass, faeces.

G
R
E
E
N

   
Area is swept and fairly free of litter, refuse or detritus
Area looks clean and there are no visible removable 
marks, stains or detritus
Area looks well maintained and cleaning is taking place 
regularly
Floors clear of bulk/ hazards

A
M
B
E
R

Area needs further sweeping, some build-up of litter, 
detritus or refuse
Some visible removable marks and stains
Not clear that cleaning is taking place as planned
Floors clear of bulk/ hazards

R
E
D

Excessive build-up of litter, detritus or refuse
Many removable marks and stains that are highly
visible
Bulky waste in an dangerous position or other health 
and safety hazards

Stairs and stairwells

Task frequency – Daily/ Weekly
Inspection sheet reference no. – CK14/ CK16

Description and aims of task:
 All floor areas should be swept and be free of litter, detritus and refuse.
 Stairs, surrounding walls and banisters should be washed.
 Rails, banisters and ledges should be brushed and cleaned.
 Any windows should be clean and smear-free.
 Bulky waste should be removed and made safe with collection arranged.

Page 87



G
R
E
E
N

Stairs clean and free of litter, detritus and refuse
Floors, walls and skirting boards free of marks and 
stains
Banisters, rails clean with no dust
No bulky waste, or made safe with collection arranged
if necessary

A
M
B
E
R

   

Some build-up of litter etc and/or marks
and stains on floors and walls
Floor area and walls could be cleaner
Rails and banisters dusty
No bulky waste, or made safe with collection arranged if 
necessary

R
E
D

 An excessive build-up of litter, detritus or stains and/
or marks on walls and floors and/or
Rails and banisters may be very dusty; and/or
Bulky waste present that has not been made safe and
reported
No evidence that cleaning is taking place

Entrance halls and lobbies

Task frequency – Daily
Inspection sheet reference no. – CK15/ CK23

Description and aims of task:

 The area should be swept and all litter, refuse, detritus and chewing gum should be 
removed so that the area is completely clear.

 The floor should be washed to remove detritus, marks and stains to leave the area 
looking clean and tidy.

 Bulky waste should be removed or if necessary made safe, reported and with 
collection arranged.

 No health and safety hazards present, e.g needs, glass, faeces

Page 88



G
R
E
E
N

  
Area is swept and clear of litter, refuse and detritus.
Area looks clean and very few marks if any are visible
Bulk items removed or made safe
Area looks well maintained and cleaned.

A
M
B
E
R

   

Area is swept and clear of litter, refuse and detritus.
A few visible removable marks and stain
Bulk items removed or made safe
Area requires attention to turn it in to a ‘Green’ grade

R
E
D

Area has not been swept resulting in noticeable build- 
up of litter, detritus or refuse.
Many visible removable marks and stains
Bulky waste removed or made safe
No evidence that cleaning is taking place as planned

Lifts

Task frequency –Daily/ Weekly 
Inspection sheet reference no. – CK18/CK19

Description and aims of task:
 Floors should be swept and washed to remove all litter, detritus, marks and stains, 

including the corners of the lifts.
 Walls and internal and external doors, door frames and door panels should be 

cleaned to remove marks, stains, detritus and graffiti.
 Caretakers are also expected to report damage or faults to lifts to the Housing 

Repairs team.

Page 89



G
R
E
E
N

Floor is clear or it is minimal quantities of litter and 
detritus
The corners are clear and the floors appear clean
Walls and doors are clean and free of removable marks, 
stains , detritus and graffiti
If defective a report has been made

A
M
B
E
R

   
Some build-up of litter and detritus are noticeable
Dirt/ detritus in corners or on lower walls 
Some removable stains and marks a visible on the walls 
and doors
If defective a report has been made

R
E
D

Excessive build-up of litter and detritus on floor
Many removable marks and stains highly visible on 
walls and door
Lift faults not reported.

Internal walls

Task frequency – Weekly
Inspection sheet reference no. – CK20

Description and aims of task:
 To remove all marks, stains, detritus, cobwebs and graffiti so the walls appear clean 

and clear.
 To ensure all skirting boards, corners and adjoining edges are clean and free of dirt, 

detritus, cobwebs etc.
 To take appropriate action in instances of graffiti, vandalism and repair work.

G
R

  
Low wall is generally free of marks, stains, dust, detritus 
and cobwebs.

Page 90



E
E
N

Skirting boards are free of dirt, detritus, cobwebs, stains 
and scuff marks
No graffiti
Walls look clean

A
M
B
E
R

Some scuff marks, stains, dust and/ or cobwebs 
noticeable on low walls
Visible build-up of dirt and detritus, cobwebs, stains and 
scuff marks on skirting boards
Walls could be cleaner

R
E
D

Excessive amount of marks, stains and cobwebs etc
Excessive build- up of dirt and detritus cobwebs, stains 
and scuff marks on skirting boards
Walls show no sign of being cleaned at arranged 
frequency

Bin chambers

Task frequency – Daily/ Monthly
Inspection sheet reference no. – CK21/22

Description and aims of task:
 To ensure that bin chambers do not become unclean, odorous and attract vermin, 

checks should be made on a daily basis for blockages and attempts made to unlock 
them where necessary.

 Bin chambers should be cleaned, rubbish bins removed and the chamber thoroughly 
swept and washed with disinfectant.

G
R
E
E
N

   Photo to be added
Bin chambers are clear of blockages
Floor is either clear of litter or there is minimal present
Floor and walls are clean with no removable stains or 
marks
Chambers are washed

Page 91



A
M
B
E
R

Bin chambers aren’t clear of blockages
Floor is either clear of litter or there is minimal present
Floor and walls aren’t clean with some stains or marks
Chambers may not be cleaned or washed

R
E
D

 

The bin chamber may be blocked without appropriate 
action taken to unblock it
Excessive amount of litter/ and or refuse/ and or 
removable stains or marks
Bin chamber not clean or washed and/ or offensive 
odour

Estate Inspection Report

Name of Estate: 

Date:

Who attended:

Housing Management actions (e.g. neglected homes and gardens, ASB)
Issue 
Identified

Location of Issue Action needed Target 
completion 
date

Comments

Page 92



Repair Issues (e.g. condition of hard landscaping)
Issue 
Identified

Location of Issue Action needed Target 
completion 
date

Comments

Grounds Maintenance (any issues with soft landscaping, graffiti, vandalism, play areas, 
flytipping, dog fouling, illegally parked or abandoned vehicles)

Issue 
Identified

Location of Issue Action needed Target 
completion 
date

Comments

Other (e.g. Pest control, street lighting, highways maintenance)
Issue 
Identified

Location of Issue Action needed Target 
completion 
date

Comments

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	4 Corporate Performance Report: Q3 2020-21
	Housing Portfolio - Q3 2020-21

	6 Revised Housing Allocation Scheme
	Appendix 2 - Housing Allocations Scheme Final DK.docx

	7 Housing Ombudsman Review
	Appendix 2- Complaint-Handling-Code-self-assessment-form (003)

	8 Draft Estate Management Policy
	Appendix 2 Estate Management Policy




